
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA
APRIL 29

NOTE: All attendees are reminded to silence cellular phones and other devices 
that may cause interruption of the session proceedings. 

CALL TO ORDER – REGULAR MEETING

ANNOUNCEMENTS/COMMUNICATIONS

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA OF THE DAY

 

CONSENT AGENDA

Information for “The Pine Lake News” eblast. 

EXECUTIVE SESSION

ADJOURNMENT

CITYY OFF PINEE LAKE 
425 ALLGOOD ROAD
P.O. BOX 1325
PINE LAKE, GA 30072

404-999-4901

www.pinelakega.net

1. Resolution 2025-18, HB 581 / HB 92 Estimated Roll Back Tax Rate
2. Resolution 2025-19, Fiscal Year (FY) 2025 Budget "Modifications" 

Amendment
3. Resolution 2025-20, Community Service Agreement
4. Resolution 2025-28, Engineer Contractual Award
5. Resolution 2025-21, Tennis Court Rehabilitation Project Award
6. Resolution 2025-22, Holiday Lighting
7. Resolution 2025-23, The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) 

Remediation Project
8. Resolution 2025-24, Facility Roof Replacements Project
9. Resolution 2025-25, Snapfinger Creek Tree Removal
10. Resolution 2025-26, Rehabilitation/Remediation of 462 Clubhouse Drive, 

AKA "Old City Hall"
11. Resolution 2025-27, Equipment Purchases, Public Works Department
12. Resolution 2025-29, Position Classification and Pay Plan Study
PUBLIC COMMENTS – 3 minutes each please
REPORTS AND OTHER BUSINESS

MAYOR
Brandy Hall 

COUNCILL MEMBERSS 
Jean Bordeaux, Mayor pro tem
Jeff Goldberg
Tom Ramsey
Thomas Torrent
Augusta Woods

 Mayor
 City Council

1. Adoption of the Minutes
• March 25, 2025 – Regular Meeting
• March 28, 2025 – City Council Spring Planning Retreat
• April 9, 2025 – Work Session

2. Resolution 2025-15, Appointment of Acting City Clerk
3. Resolution 2025-16, Establishment of Separate Bank Account for DeKalb

Intergovernmental Agreement, Additional $2,000,000 SPLOST Funds
4. Resolution 2025-17, Georgia Interlocal Risk Management Agency

(GIRMA) Insurance Renewal

NEW BUSINESS



Page 1 of 3 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
March 25th, 2025 at 6:00 PM 

Courthouse & Council Chambers 
459 Pine Drive, Pine Lake, GA 

Call to Order: Mayor Hall called the Regular Meeting to order at 6:00PM. 

Present: Mayor Brandy Hall, Mayor pro tem Bordeaux, Council Members Jeff 
Goldberg, Thomas Torrent, Tom Ramsey, and Augusta Woods. Also present 
were City Manager Stanley Hawthorne, Chief of Police Sarai Y’hudah-Green, 
City Attorney Chris Balch, Public Works Director Bernard Kendrick, Finance 
Director Danny Lamonte, and Assistant City Clerk Ned Dagenhard. 

Announcements and Communications 

Mayor Hall expressed excitement toward the upcoming March 28th City Council 
Planning Retreat. 

Council Member Ramsey thanked Public Works Director Kendrick for the new 
lights at the Beach House, adding complements to the appearance. 

Mayor pro tem Bordeaux announced the third installment of the Women’s History 
Month Our History is Now program occurred the previous weekend. Mayor pro 
tem Bordeaux stated that the event had been successful and well-attended, 
adding that the final installment would take place Friday, March 28th at 7:30PM. 

Adoption of the Agenda of the Day 

Council Member Torrent moved to adopt the Agenda of the Day; Council 
Member Goldberg seconded. 

No discussion took place. 

Mayor Hall called for a vote. 

All members voted in favor, and the motion carried. 



Page 2 of 3 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
March 25th, 2025 at 6:00 PM 

Courthouse & Council Chambers 
459 Pine Drive, Pine Lake, GA 

Consent Agenda 
1. Minutes – Adoption

• February 25, 2025 – Regular Meeting
• March 11, 2025 – Work Session

2. Resolution R-2025-12, Pedestrian Bridge/Berm Restoration Project,
Additional Work Authorization

3. Resolution R-2025-13, Adoption of Community Garden Fee Schedule

Council Member Ramsey moved to adopt the Consent Agenda; Mayor pro tem
Bordeaux seconded.

No discussion took place.

Mayor Hall called for a vote.

All members voted in favor, and the motion carried.

New Business 

1. Resolution R-2025-14, Amended Fiscal Year (FY) 2024 Annual Budget

Council Member Woods moved to approve Resolution R-2025-14; Council
Member Torrent seconded.

City Manager Hawthorne asked Finance Director Lamonte to present an
overview of the budget amendment.

Mr. Lamonte fielded various questions and comments from City Council, focused
around elaborations on line item titles, as well as the concept of a fund balance.

Mayor Hall called for a vote.

All members voted in favor, and the motion carried.



Page 3 of 3 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
March 25th, 2025 at 6:00 PM 

Courthouse & Council Chambers 
459 Pine Drive, Pine Lake, GA 

Reports and Other Comments 

Mayor 

Mayor Hall presented no additional comments. 

City Council 

Council Member Torrent inquired about the dilapidated benches near the 
playground area, posing the question of removal to Public Works Director 
Kendrick. The Public Works Director responded that he had previously grouped 
this task with a greater rehabilitation of the playground and recreation area, but 
added that he would prioritize removal of the benches. Council Member 
Goldberg offered his support of this prioritization, adding that the playground 
area is the most utilized feature in the recreation area. 

Council Member Goldberg stated that he had met with the area manager for 
Georgia Power, relating to their tree-pruning initiative, to which the City and 
residents were recently notified. The Council Member continued that the 
conversation revealed an opportunity for residents to communicate directly with 
Georgia Power regarding specific tree issues on their respective properties. 
Detailed directions, Mr. Goldberg said, would be included in the City’s newsletter. 
Finally, Mr. Goldberg stated that in collaboration with Council Member Woods, 
Georgia Power had been invited to the May 4th “Pollination Celebration.” 

Council Member Ramsey offered kudos to Chief Green for facilitating a 
presentation in conjunction with the DeKalb County Police Department on scam 
awareness.  

Adjournment 

Council Member Torrent moved for adjournment at 6:35PM. 

Ned Dagenhard 
City Clerk or Delegate 



Page 1 of 3 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
CITY COUNCIL RETREAT MINUTES 

March 28th, 2025 at 9:00 AM 
Shades of Green Permaculture 

2835 Washington Street, Avondale Estates, GA 30002 

Call to Order: Mayor Hall called the Regular Meeting to order at 9:11AM. 

Present: Mayor Brandy Hall, Mayor pro tem Bordeaux, Council Members Jeff 
Goldberg, Thomas Torrent, Tom Ramsey, and Augusta Woods. Also present 
were City Manager Stanley Hawthorne, City Attorney Chris Balch, and Assistant 
City Clerk Ned Dagenhard. 

Adoption of the Agenda of the Day 

Council Member Ramsey moved to adopt the Agenda of the Day; Mayor pro tem 
Bordeaux seconded. 

No discussion took place. 

Mayor Hall called for a vote. 

All members voted in favor, and the motion carried. 

New Business/Discussion Topics 

1. Planning Retreat Report Update from Octoebr 25, 2024

a. Retreat Report, October 25, 2024

b. Strategic Action Items Update

c. Strategic Priorities Update

A discussion took place, wherein the Governing Authority, City Manager 
Hawthorne, and City Attorney Balch “checked-in” on those priorities outlined 
during the October 25, 2024 City Council Retreat. Topics included project 
management; communication between the Governing Authority and staff; and 
development of the City’s commercial corridor. No action was taken by City 
Council. 



Page 2 of 3 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
CITY COUNCIL RETREAT MINUTES 

March 28th, 2025 at 9:00 AM 
Shades of Green Permaculture 

2835 Washington Street, Avondale Estates, GA 30002 

2. Council Project List Strategy

a. Moving into the New Year, Input

Council Members discussed a simplified approach to capital project timeline 
updates, functional code compliance with respect to the Pine Lake naturalist 
ethos visa vi vegetation management, as well as putting together a 
“comprehensive master plan,” with the goal of clearly communicating cooperative 
opportunities to DeKalb County and other local stakeholders. 

3. Map Out Town Hall Meetings Strategy

a. “What is a Town Hall Meeting” Article

b. “How to Run a Town Hall Meeting” Article

As an introduction to the topic of community outreach, Council Member Goldberg 
led an exercise, asking each attendee to answer the question, “what brought you 
to Pine Lake?”  

The Governing Authority was presented with a brief overview and history of town 
hall meetings. 

The discussion then segued into information priorities, as an outline for issue-
based town halls. The Governing Authority also discussed the merit of open-
ended town halls versus subject-oriented town halls.  

A consensus was observed by City Council regarding the holding of two (2) town 
hall meetings in 2025: one to be issue-specific, and one to be a general Q&A. 

No other action was taken by City Council. 

4. Roles of City Officers, Per New Charter

a. City Charter

City Attorney Balch gave a PowerPoint presentation covering municipal 
government, the Council-Manager form of government, aspects of the City 
Charter reflecting the Mayor’s authority during meetings, and City Council 
authority over Department Directors.  

No action was taken by City Council. 



Page 3 of 3 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
CITY COUNCIL RETREAT MINUTES 

March 28th, 2025 at 9:00 AM 
Shades of Green Permaculture 

2835 Washington Street, Avondale Estates, GA 30002 

Adjournment 

Council Member Woods moved for adjournment at 3:15PM. 

Ned Dagenhard 
City Clerk or Delegate 



Page 1 of 5 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
WORK SESSION MINUTES 
April 8, 2025 at 6:00 PM 

Courthouse & Council Chambers 
459 Pine Drive, Pine Lake, GA 

Call to Order: Mayor Hall called the Regular Meeting to order at 6:00PM. 

Present: Mayor Brandy Hall, Mayor pro tem Bordeaux, Council Members Jeff 
Goldberg, Thomas Torrent, and Augusta Woods. Also present were City 
Manager Stanley Hawthorne, Chief of Police Sarai Y’hudah-Green, City Attorney 
Chris Balch, Public Works Director Bernard Kendrick, and Assistant City Clerk 
Ned Dagenhard. Council Member Tom Ramsey and Finance Director Danny 
Lamonte were not in attendance. 

Announcements and Communications 

Mayor Hall thanked staff and City Council for a “great retreat.” The Mayor 
continued that discussion topics included strategic priorities and scheduling of 
town hall meetings. 

Mayor pro tem Bordeaux announced that Thursday, April 10th she would be 
attending a DeKalb Mayor’s Retreat in Mayor Hall’s stead, adding that she felt 
such a meeting between City and County representatives was positive. 

Adoption of the Agenda of the Day 

Council Member Woods moved to adopt the Agenda of the Day; Council 
Member Torrent seconded. 

No discussion took place. 

Mayor Hall called for a vote. 

All members voted in favor, and the motion carried. 



Page 2 of 5 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
WORK SESSION MINUTES 
April 8, 2025 at 6:00 PM 

Courthouse & Council Chambers 
459 Pine Drive, Pine Lake, GA 

New Business 

1. Audio/Visual Equipment – Issues Related to Live-stream Audio, Potential
Solutions

Assistant City Clerk Dagenhard summarized an ongoing issue related to volume
during City Council meeting live-streams. Mr. Dagenhard then invited a
representative from Quality Communications, the City’s audio/visual (A/V)
technology provider, to speak to the City Council and public about available
corrective measures.

The representative from Quality Communications presented various solutions,
with ranging levels of cost. A tiered list of quotes, the representative added, was
currently in development for Administration and City Council review.

No action was taken by City Council.

2. Community Service Through Georgia Department of Community
Supervision

Chief Green presented a program, in partnership with the Georgia Department of
Community Affairs, that would allow individuals performing court-mandated
community service to assist the Pine Lake Public Works Department with
grounds maintenance.

Chief Green fielded questions from City Council regarding supervision of
program participants.

A consensus of City Council was observed, regarding allowing staff to proceed
with preparation of the program and any actionable documents.

No other action was taken by City Council.



Page 3 of 5 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
WORK SESSION MINUTES 
April 8, 2025 at 6:00 PM 

Courthouse & Council Chambers 
459 Pine Drive, Pine Lake, GA 

3. Tennis Court Rehabilitation Project

Public Works Director Kendrick recapitulated the work performed thus far to
develop a scope of work regarding rehabilitation of the Tennis Court complex.
Mr. Kendrick referenced solicitation of services for both fence repair and court
resurfacing, with the Director’s recommendation being to separate the work and
award to separate, niche vendors: Ergeon and Advanced Athletic, respectively.

Mr. Kendrick fielded questions from City Council regarding lighting, parking, and
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) compliance. Multiple Council Members
voiced their preference that ADA-compliance be included in the initial project
scope, rather than as part of a separate City-wide remediation effort.

No action was taken by City Council.

4. Preliminary Capital Improvement Program (CIP)

Public Works Director Kendrick presented a 6-year Capital Improvement
Program, identifying five (5) sources of funding: Special Purpose Local Option
Sales Tax (SPLOST) 1 and 2, Local Maintenance Improvement Grant(s) (LMIG),
Community Development Block Grant(s) (CDBG), and the interlocal agreement
with DeKalb County for an additional $2,000,000 in SPLOST funds (AKA
SPLOST $2mil).

Additionally, Mr. Kendrick outlined more than thirty (30) potential projects,
ranging from vegetation management to dam repair. Mr. Kendrick engaged in
lengthy discussion with the Governing Authority regarding the many proposed
initiatives. The Mayor and Council thanked the Public Works Director for
developing a list Mayor Hall dubbed, “really comprehensive.”

No action was taken by City Council.



Page 4 of 5 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
WORK SESSION MINUTES 
April 8, 2025 at 6:00 PM 

Courthouse & Council Chambers 
459 Pine Drive, Pine Lake, GA 

5. Fiscal Year (FY) 2025 Budget Modifications (see: Strategic Performance
Report (SPR), April)

City Manager Hawthorne introduced discussion of amendments to the FY2025
Annual Budget, commending the City for achieve an unassigned fund balance of
57.6% at the close of FY2023 (the most recently completed audit year).

Mr. Hawthorne, Chief Green, and Assistant City Clerk Dagenhard each outlined
various budget modification recommendations. Areas discussed included
Equipment improvements for the Police Department (body cameras), as well as
Professional Services in Administration (Zoning Consultant, Environmental
Engineering Services) and Court (Public Defender, Ad hoc Judge, Language
Translator Services). Additionally, modifications were recommended for Legal
Expenses to account for greater utilization of the City Attorney position.

Mr. Hawthorne asked that Mr. Kendrick’s presentation of a Capital Improvement
Plan be entered as his contribution, since it too reflected budget modification
recommendations.

No action was taken by City Council.

Reports and Other Business 

Mayor 

Mayor Hall presented no further comments. 

City Council 

Council Member Torrent offered kudos to staff and the City Manager, stating that 
morale appeared to be high. Council Member Torrent also announced that a 
Beach House garden cleanup facilitated by the Stewards of Environmental 
Education and Design (S.E.E.D.) was scheduled for April 17th from 6:00-7:30PM. 

Council Member Goldberg stated that he had spent “quite a bit of time” at City 
Hall over the past few months, and echoed Council Member Torrents comment 
on high morale, adding that there is a “noticeable feeling when you walk in the 
door.” The Council Member commended the development of monthly Strategic 
Performance Reports, and advocated for better educating residents on the 
upcoming projects, as well as the status of the western wetland intake pipe and 
overall lake/wetland management. 



Page 5 of 5 

CITY OF PINE LAKE 
WORK SESSION MINUTES 
April 8, 2025 at 6:00 PM 

Courthouse & Council Chambers 
459 Pine Drive, Pine Lake, GA 

Executive Session 

Council Member Torrent motioned to enter Executive Session for the purpose of 
discussing personnel at 8:09PM; Mayor pro tem Bordeaux seconded. 

Mayor Hall called for a vote. 

All members voted in favor, and the motion carried. 

Mayor pro tem Bordeaux motioned to re-enter Work Session at 8:44PM; Council 
Member Torrent seconded. 

Mayor Hall called for a vote. 

All members voted in favor, and the motion carried. 

Adjournment 

A motion for adjournment was made at 8:45PM. 

Ned Dagenhard 
City Clerk or Delegate 



TO: 

FROM: 

DATE: 

TITLE: 

PINE mm.� 
LAKE l!d�� 
�� #o..t.J:a±; 

COUNCIL AGENDA MEMORANDUM (CAM) 

Honorable Mayor and Council Members 

Stanley D Hawthorne, City Manager,--_■l�•a;) 

April 29, 2025 

Appointment of Acting City Clerk 

: 

RECOMMENDATION 

► 

Approve resolution appointing Mr. Ned Dagenhard, Assistant City Clerk, as Acting City Clerk of Pine 
Lake. 

BACKGROUND 
Section 3.13 of the City's Charter provides "The city council shall appoint a city clerk who shall not be a 
member of the city council. The city clerk shall be the custodian of the official city seal; maintain city 
council records required by this charter; and perform such other duties as may be required by the city 
council and as are imposed upon that officer by state law. Except as otherwise provided in this charter or 
by law, the city clerk shall not be subject to termination or removal by the mayor or the city council acting 
alone, but only upon the majority vote of the mayor and a concurring majority of the city council sitting at 
a regularly scheduled meeting of the city council. In the event that an appointment is not made to the city 
clerk position, the city manager shall serve as city clerk. 

The City Council held a Planning Retreat on October 25, 2024 and reported four strategic priorities -
goals. Goal #1 was to make a final decision about the City Manager's position and to hire a full-time City 
Clerk. During his tenure of employment with the City of Pine Lake, Mr. Ned Dagenhard has served as 
Assistant City Clerk and has made commendable strides in learning, training, and gaining experience for 
advancement to Acting City Clerk and as a candidate to become City Clerk. 

State law (O.C.G.A. sections 36-1-24 and 36-45-20) requires anyone hired as of April 1, 1992, holding 
the title of "clerk" or performing the duties of a municipal/county clerk pursuant to the local charter, 
ordinance, or code shall attend a 15-hour mandated orientation training. The training consists of a basic 
overview of clerks' job duties and required functions. Mr. Dagenhard completed this 15-hour course in 
February of 2024. 

Through the University of Georgia Carl Vinson Institute of Government/Georgia Clerks Education 
Institute (GCEI), Assistant City Clerk Dagenhard has completed to date a total of 57 hours. Upon 

Stanley D Hawthorne 
City Manager 

stanleyhawthorne@pinelabega.net 
425 Allgood Road Stone Mountain GA 30083 

PO Box 1325 • Pine LaRe. GA 300TI • 404-999--4932 

www.pinelabega.net 



reaching 100 hours, he will receive a certification as a "Georgia Certified Clerk (GCC)." Mr. Dagenhard 
is on target to meet that threshold by December 2025. 

It is noteworthy that the 100-hour curriculum is not legally required for those holding the title of City 
Clerk, as is often a point of confusion. Rather, that is the purpose of the 15-hour mandatory training. 

RESOURCE IMPACT 

There is no immediate fiscal impact beyond previously budgeted resources. 

ATTACHMENTS 
Resolution 
City Clerk Certification, Requirements, etc. 

Stanley O Hawthorne 
City Manager 

stanleyhawthome@pinefaRega.net 
425 Allgood Road Stone Mountain GA 30083 

PO Box 1325 • Pine l� GA 300n • 404-999-4932 

www.pinelaRegQ.net 



Resolution R-2025-15 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PINE LAKE TO APPOINT NED DAGENHARD AS 
ACTING CITY CLERK, TO AUTHORIZE THE CORRECTION OF SCRIVENER’S 

ERRORS, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

WHEREAS, Section 3.13 of the Charter of the City of Pine Lake places the appointment 
authority of the City Clerk in the City Council; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Ned Dagenhard completed the required 15 hours of orientation required by 
State law to perform the duties of City Clerk in February of 2024; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Ned Dagenhard is currently working to obtain his certification as a Georgia 
Certified Clerk, from the Carl Vinson Institute at the University of Georgia, and 
expects to complete those studies by December 31, 2025; and 

WHEREAS,  Mr. Dagenhard has also been working for the City of Pine Lake as Assistant City 
Clerk under the supervision and management of the City Manager, who is the City 
Clerk in the absence of an appointment of that role by the Mayor and Council; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Dagenhard’s performance as City Clerk has exceeded expectations since his 
appointment as Assistant City Clerk; and 

WHEREAS, After careful consideration and upon the recommendation of the City Manager and 
the City Attorney, the Mayor and City Council expressly find that Mr. Dagenhard 
has the qualities and has demonstrated the initiative and dedication to duties to 
serve in the Role of Acting City Clerk; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the governing authority of the City of Pine 
Lake, Georgia, in an open and public meeting, that it appoints MR NED DAGENHARD as 
Acting City Clerk for the City of Pine Lake, and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that his resolution is effective immediately upon the 
Mayor’s signature and the Acting City Clerk is authorized, in consultation with the City 
Attorney, to make any changes or modifications to this Resolution as may be necessary to give 
full effect to the intent of the City Council. 

ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 29th day of April, 
2025. 

BRANDY HALL 
Mayor 

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

NED DAGENHARD CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
Acting City Clerk City Attorney 



• Outlook

City Clerk Certification, Requirements, Etc. 

From Ned Dagenhard <neddagenhard@pinelakega.net> 

Date Wed 4/9/2025 3:12 PM 

To Stanley Hawthorne <stanleyhawthorne@pinelakega.net> 

@ 2 attachments (403 KB) 

Transcript, GCEI - Ned Dagenhard.pdf; 2025 GUIDELINES -FINAL.edited (1)_202503111243139367.pdf; 

Good afternoon sir, 

As requested, this email contains information related to State requirements for those holding the title of 
"City Clerk," my ongoing education through the UGA Carl Vinson Institute of Government/Georgia Clerks 
Education Institute (GCEI), and my interest in pursuing membership with the International Institute of 
Municipal Clerks (IIMC). 

• State law (O.C.G.A. sections 36-1-24 and 36-45-20) requires anyone hired as of April 1, 1992,
holding the title of "clerk" or performing the duties of a municipal/county clerk pursuant to the local
charter, ordinance, or code shall attend a 15-hour mandated orientation training. The training
consists of a basic overview of clerks' job duties and required functions. I completed this 15-hour
course in February of 2024.

• Please the attached transcript from GCEI, which references the ten (10) courses I have completed
to date, for a total of (57) hours. Once I reach (100) hours, I will receive a certification as a
"Georgia Certified Clerk (GCC)". I anticipate meeting this threshold by December of this year.

o Note: The (100) hour curriculum is not legally required for those holding the title of
City Clerk, as is often a point of confusion. Rather, that is the purpose of the 15-hour
mandatory training. Additionally, I can attest to the fact that I am regularly one of only a
handful of students who does not hold the title of City Clerk, though I am further in my
curriculum than many of my classmates.

• I have also attached some information regarding membership with the IIMC. This is an
international organization, offering continued training opportunities, as well as certification as a
Certified Municipal Clerk (CMC) once I reach (80) education "points." Since I hold a Bachelors in
Public Policy (representing (20) education "points"), I will become CMG-eligible once I reach (80)
hours of course work (representing (40) education "points"). I anticipate meeting this threshold by
September of this year. Here is a link to more information regarding CMC certification.

Please let me know if you have any questions or requests for further documentation. 

Ned Dagenhard 
Assistant City Clerk 

City or Pinc Lake 

P.O. 13ox !a25 

Pinc Lake, GA 30072 

( UH-) 99/J-119:� l 



Carl Vinson 

Institute ofGovernn1ent 

UNIVERSITY OF GEORGIA 

MAIL TO: 

NED DAGENHARD 

P.O. BOX 1325 

PINE LAKE, GA 30072 

USA 

COURSE NUMBER TITLE START DATE 

0222 MANDATED TRAINING FOR 04 Feb 2024 
NEW CLERKS 

0227 PROFESSIONAL SKILLS 09 Sep 2024 
DEVELOPMENT 101 -
BUSINESS WRITING 

0226 MILLAGE RATE PROCESS 10 Sep 2024 

0253 PROFESSIONAL SKILLS 10 Oct 2024 
DEVELOPMENT 204 - GROUP 
DYNAMICS AND REACTING TO 
CHANGE 

0229 RECORDS MANAGEMENT 102 - 11 Oct 2024 
TECHNIQUES 

0230 RECORDS MANAGEMENT 103- 11 Oct 2024 
TECHNOLOGY 

0224 MEETING MANAGEMENT 102- 03 Feb 2025 
PROCEDURES 

0225 MEETING MANAGEMENT 103 - 03 Feb 2025 
OPEN MEETINGS 

0221 GOVERNMENT 102 04 Feb 2025 

0239 PAYROLL ADMINISTRATION 27 Mar 2025 

Carl Vinson Institute of Government 

201 North Milledge Avenue 
Athens, GA, 30602 
Tel: (706) 542-2736 
ccu@uga.edu 
https://outreachregistration.uga.edu 

TRANSCRIPT OF RECORD 

Page 1 of 1 

DATE: 09APR 2025 

PARTICIPANT NAME: NED DAGENHARD 

STUDENT ID: X553853 

SCHOOL ID: 

END DATE GRADE HOURS CEUS 

04 Feb2024 Successful 15.0 1.50 
Completion 

09 Sep 2024 Successful 6.0 0.60 
Completion 

10 Sep 2024 Credit 6.0 0.60 
Achieved 

10 Oct 2024 Successful 6.0 0.60 
Completion 

11 Oct 2024 Successful 3.0 0.30 
Completion 

11 Oct 2024 Successful 3.0 0.30 
Completion 

03 Feb 2025 Successful 3.0 0.30 
Completion 

03 Feb 2025 Successful 3.0 0.30 
Completion 

04 Feb 2025 Successful 6.0 0.60 
Completion 

27 Mar 2025 Successful 6.0 0.60 
Completion 

********************************************************** END OF TRANSCRIPT*********************************************************

Thank you for choosing The University of Georgia Public Service and Outreach Units for your Continuing 
Education needs. 



INTERNATIONAL INSTITUTE OF MUNICIPAL CLERKS 

EDUCATION GUIDELINES 

Contents 

PREAMBLE .................................................................................................................................................... ! 
EDUCATIONAL PHILOSOPHY ................................................................................................................... 1 
IIMC MEMBERSHIP CLASSIFICATIONS .................................................................................................. 2 
CERTIFIED MUNICIPAL CLERK (CMC) DESIGNATION REQUIREMENTS ....................................... 2 
MASTER MUNICIPAL CLERK (MMC) DESIGNATION REQUIREMENTS .......................................... 6 
INTERNATIONAL EDUCATION HOURS REQUIREMENT ... . . .... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ................ . .  9 
EDUCATION PLUS.PROGRAM ... . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .... . . . . . . . ... . . . . . . ...... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ........ . . . ............ .12 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION .......................................................................................................... 13 
ATHENIAN LEADERSHIP SOCIETY POLICY ........................................................................................ 13 
EDUCATIONAL PARTNERSHIPS ............................................................................................................ 17 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION APPLICABLE TO ALL EDUCATIONAL PARTNERS ...................... 18 
THE COURSE REVIEW PROCESS ............................................................................................................ 20 
IIMC-APPROVED INSTITUTES ................................................................................................................ 20 

PREAMBLE 

The International Institute of Municipal Clerks (IIMC) serves the needs of Municipal Clerks, City 
Secretaries, Treasurers, Recorders, and other allied associations worldwide. IIMC's primary goals are to 
promote education and training, professional development, certification, public service, mutual assistance 
and goodwill, and skill development. 

EDUCATIONAL PHILOSOPHY 

The primary purpose of the International Institute of Municipal Clerks (IIMC) is to provide education and 
professional development programs and opportunities for its members. IIMC recognizes that education and 
professional development are essential to every member, and those needs are diverse worldwide.The 
educational philosophy of "No Clerk Left Behind" remains at the forefront as IIMC offers extensive 
educational programs and courses through a variety of methods, including universities and institutes, IIMC
approved institutes, state/provincial/national associations, international study, and online classes, 
publications, networking opportunities, and annual conferences. IIMC values its affiliations with 
Municipal Clerk associations and sponsoring educational institutions. IIMC provides members with 
certifications earned through participation in educational programs and involvement in various professional 
development activities. These certifications include the Ce1tified Municipal Clerk (CMC) designation and 
the Master Municipal Clerk (MMC) designation. The educational programs and certifications offered 
through IIMC empower its members to achieve academic and professional success. 

IIMC promotes life-long learning, skill development, and public service to foster a spirit of mutual 
assistance and goodwill among Municipal Clerks around the globe. We continually strive to promote and 
lead professional and personal development practices to create opportunities for our diverse membership. 
In partnership with our national and international institutes and our state/local and provincial associations, 
we support learning opportunities that enrich our members' knowledge, skills, and abilities, thus creating 
pathways to certification. Certified professionals can continue their development through participation in 
programs offered at the state/local/provincial, and national levels even after they achieve the desired 
certification. This commitment to life-long learning enables the members to keep current with evolving 
practices in the profession and remain effective in their municipalities. 

Revised January 2025 1 Education Guidelines 



IIMC MEMBERSIDP CLASSIFICATIONS 

• Full Member/ Additional Full Member - Individuals who serve a legislative government body
(LGB) in an administrative capacity with management responsibilities and perform at least four of
the eight core clerk duties. These members may earn both IIMC designations.

• Associate member* - Does not qualify for full membership and cannot become a Certified
Municipal Clerk or a Master Municipal Clerk. They may, however, attend conferences and
courses as they desire.

• Retired Members - These members may earn both IIMC designations.

*Ij a Full Member, who is fully admitted and engaged in the certification process, finds themselves unable
to meet the criteria of a Full Member, they can transfer to Associate Member status. If the newly
transitioned Associate Member wishes, they can continue to complete their current certification.

Membership must be current for IIMC to recognize a Certified Municipal Clerk (CMC) or Master 
Municipal Clerk (MMC) designation. 

CERTIFIED MUNICIPAL CLERK (CMC) DESIGNATION 

The Certified Municipal Clerk program can enhance the job performance of the Clerks in small and large 
municipalities. To earn the CMC designation, a Municipal Clerk must attend extensive education 
programs, and the CMC designation also requires relevant experience in a municipality. The CMC 
program prepares the applicants to meet the challenges of the complex role of the Municipal Clerk by 
providing them with quality education in partnership with institutions of higher learning and 
state/provincial/national associations. The CMC program has been assisting clerks in excelling since 1970. 

Members will earn all points according to the provisions of the IIMC Education Guidelines. 

The following are the requirements for obtaining the CMC designation: 

1. Be a Full/Additional Full/Retired Member.
2. Be an active member ofIIMC for two years.
3. Complete and submit the Enrollment Form to be reviewed as an eligible CMC candidate and the

full non-refundable certification fee.
4. Submit the Application for CMC Desi�ation accompanied by supporting documentation for each

item listed.
5. The CMC Designation requires sixty (60) education and fifty (50) experience points.

CMC CERTIFICATION 
The Certified Municipal Clerk (CMC) is the first of two professional designations offered by IIMC. The 
CMC program prepares participants to meet the basic challenges of the complex role of the Municipal 
Clerk. 

Revised January 2025 2 Education Guidelines 



PREREQUISITES 

The CMC is a prerequisite to the MMC. Points earned before achieving the CMC designation will not 
apply towards the MMC designation. The only exception to this rule is a college degree not previously 
applied. 

A member may begin accruing MMC-eligible items while their CMC application is pending review. 
However, if the assessment determines that the member's final CMC application is deficient, the assessor 
will only review and apply any items accrued in the interim toward the CMC application. 

Credit earned while a CMC designee awaits the fulfilment of the two-year IIMC membership requirement 
for receiving the CMC designation will be eligible to be reviewed for MMC credit. 

CMC EDUCATION POINT REQUIREMENTS 

Sixty (60) Education Points Required 
(Regions I-IX) 

Options for obtaining the sixty (60) Education points required may come from any combination of 
the following categories: 

Option Eligible Points 

l) Completion of an llMC-approved 1 point per 2 educational hours 
Institute or Academy program (120 hours = 60 points) 

2) A bachelor's degree or higher in Public 20 points 
Administration or a related field*

3) A bachelor's degree or higher in an 10 points 
unrelated field*

4) An associate degree 5 points 

5) Completion of a State/ National/ I point per 4 educational hours with a 
Provincial education program approved completed learning assessment 
through the IIMC course review process

6) IIMC Annual Conference** 1 point per 1 educational session with a 
completed learning assessment 

7) IIMC Athenian Leadership 3 points each with completed learning 
Dialogue*** assessment, 18 points maximum 

8) IIMC Online programs 1 point per 2 educational hours 
9) llMC Study Abroad Program Points vary by program 

* Copies of official transcripts are required.
**Members may use IIMC Annual Conference educational hours for either education or experience points.
*** Members may apply a maximum of 18 points to the CMC designation.

Excess education points will be applied to experience by the IIMC Education Department during the 
designation application review period. 

IIMC awards at least 0.5 education points. Members must meet minimum time requirements based on the 
stated point conversion. 

Revised January 2025 3 Education Guidelines 



CMC EXPERIENCE POINT REQUIREMENTS 

Fifty (50) Experience Points Required 
(Regions I-IX) 

Options for obtaining the fifty (50) experience points required may come from any combination of 
the following categories: 

Option Eligible Points 

1) Full-time Municipal Clerk* positions qualifying for 4 points per year**, 
Ful l/Additional Full Membership maximum 40 points 

2) Part-time Municipal Clerk* positions qualifying for 2 points per year**, 
Full/ Additional Full Membership maximum 40 points 

3) Other full-time positions in local government before becoming a 2 points per year**, 
Municipal Clerk* maximum 30 points 

4) Administrative positions in federal, state, or provincial 1 point per year**, 
government maximum 30 points 

5) Administrative positions in business*** 1 point per year**, 
maximum 30 points 

6) IIMC Annual Conferences**** 1 point per l educational 
session with a completed 

learning assessment 
7) Attendance at an IIMC regional meeting, municipal clerks 1 point per 4 verifiable 

association conference, municipal league conference, or other hours***** or 1 day of 
municipal clerk-related conferences educational attendance 

8) Completion of a State/ National/ Provincial education program 1 point per 4 educational 
approved through the IIMC Course Review Process hours with a completed 

learning assessment 
9) Other applicable programs 1 point per 6 educational 

hours 
10) IIMC Study Abroad Program Points vary by program 
11) Applicable business or vocational school programs 1 point per 10 educational 

hours 
12) Applicable college or university courses not applied toward 1 point per applicable 

education credit unit 
13) IIMC, IIMC Foundation, or Municipal Clerks Association 1 point per year** 

Committee service

*See IIMC Membership Classifications.
**Employment and Committee service may be reviewed in six-month increments and will be re-evaluated
with each application submission.
***In the case of applicable self-employment, the applicant must submit a copy of their business license
and tax return for each year of employment they seek credit for in addition to a first-hand letter outlining
the nature of the business and the duties performed.
****Members may use !IMC Annual Conference educational hours for either education or experience
points. *****Verifiable hours are educational hours the hosting organization verifies and reflects in the
supporting documentation.

Revised January 2025 4 Education Guidelines 



Sample Course Subjects for the Certified Municipal Clerk (CMC) Program 

The following is an example of course subjects for the education component of the CMC designation. It 
indicates the subject matters within the context ofIIMC core educational requirements for the CMC 
designation. The courses must fulfill the requirements of the IIMC Education Guidelines. 

IIMC emphasizes that, at a minimum, all courses shall be related to the job of the participating clerk and 
shall include a presentation by an educator with appropriate credentials or by an expert in the field. From 
time to time, the Education Department may update, revise, and change courses as needed. 

A. Public Administration and Organization

• Introduction to Public
Administration

• Public Management
• Social and Political Systems
• Local Government
• Public Organizations
• Introduction to Fiscal Management
• Accounting for Municipalities
• Budgeting for Municipalities
• Financial Management
• Introduction to Law
• Introduction to Information

Technology
• Records Management I

B. Social and Interpersonal Issues

• Personal and Group Behavior
• Introduction to Communication
• Written Communication I
• Written Communication II
• Presentation Skills
• Community Development
• Teambuilding and Group

Dynamics
• Principles of Ethics
• Comparative Clerkship
• Leadership
• Media Relations Project

Management
• Project Risk Management

C. Electives

• Election Administration

• Emergency Management

• Employment Law/HR Management
• State Mandated Education

Revised January 2025 

• Records Management II
• The Planning Process
• The Municipal Clerk Profession
• Introduction to Project

Management
• Meeting Administration
• Agendas and Minutes
• Administrative Law
• Environmental Policy and

Management
• Public Sector Economics
• Knowledge Management
• Organizational Management
• The American Municipality

• Research Skills

• Public Organizations
• Public Personnel Management

• Strategic Planning for Not-for
Profit and Government Entities

• Sustainable Economic and
Community Development

• Technical Writing

• Technology in the Clerk's
Office/Information management
Technology

5 Education Guidelines 



IIMC will also accept state--or provincial-specific education and training related to the clerk's job as an 
elective. In addition, IIMC will take other courses relevant to the Municipal Clerk profession and in 
compliance. 

MASTER MUNICIPAL CLERK (MMC) DESIGNATION 

The Master Municipal (MMC) is the second of two professional designations offered by IIMC. To qualify 
for entrance into the MMC program, an applicant must hold the CMC designation. The MMC program 
prepares participants to meet the challenges of the complex role of the Municipal Clerk. Through advanced 
continuing education programs, participants receive further development to perform more complex 
municipal duties. The certification requirements include an extensive and advanced educational component 
and a professional contribution component. MMC applicants must demonstrate their active pursuit of 
educational and professional activities and have remained informed of current socio-political, cultural, and 
economic issues that affect local governments and municipalities. 

The educational requirements for the MMC are more advanced and complex than those of the CMC 
program. The topics and course descriptions may sound like those of the CMC courses; however, the 
breadth and depth of the MMC courses are more academically advanced. The IIMC Education Department 
is always a resource that assists in determining the education level of any course. Members must earn all 
points according to the provisions outlined in the requirements in this document. 

The following are the requirements for obtaining the MMC designation: 

l . Hold a CMC designation in good standing.
2. Be a Full/ Additional Full/Retired Member
3. Complete the Application for MMC admission to determine MMC eligibility and the non

refundable certification fee.
4. Submit the Application for MMC Designation accompanied by supporting documentation for each

item listed.
5. The MMC Designation requires sixty (60) advanced education and forty (40) professional

contribution points.
6. IIMC DOES NOT accept any points earned or dated before the CMC designation toward the

MMC in progress. For example, no materials dated before March 2008 will count toward the
MMC in progress if the applicant obtained their CMC designation in March 2008. A college
degree not previously applied is the only exception to this rule.

MMC ADVANCED EDUCATION POINT REQUIREMENTS 

Sixty (60) Advanced Education Points Required 
(Regions I-IX) 

Options for obtaining the sixty (60) advanced education points required may come from any 
combination of the following categories: 

Option Eligible Points 
1) Completion of an IIMC-approved Academy program I point per 2 educational 

hours 
(120 hours = 60 points) 

2) A bachelor's degree or higher in Public 20 points 
Administration or a related field*

3) A bachelor's degree or higher in an unrelated field* 10 points 

4) An associate degree 5 points 

5) Completion of a State / National / Provincial l point per 4 educational hours

Revised January 2025 6 Education Guidelines 







■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

B. Electives

Knowledge Management 
Strategic Planning for Not-for-profit and Governmental entities 
Public Personnel Management 
Advanced Records Management 
Community Power, Leadership, and Administration 
Organizational Change in Public Service 
Technical Writing and Communication in Public Service I 
Technical Writing and Communication in Public Service II 
Ethics as Core Strategy for Social ResponsibilityNalues 
Advanced Agendas and Minutes 
Communication 
Community, Power, and Leadership 
Leadership, Organization, and Management 
Media Relations 
Meeting Administration 
Personal and Group Behavior 
Public Organizations 
Research Skills 
Revenue and Fiscal Management 
Strategic Planning for Not-for-Profit and Governmental Entities 
Election Administration 
Emergency Management 
Employment Law/HR Management 

■ IIMC accepts state/provincial/national specific education and training directly related to the clerk's
job as electives.

CMC INTERNATIONAL EDUCATION HOUR REQUIREMENTS 

One Hundred and Twenty (120) Education Hours Required 
(Regions X-XI) 

The one hundred and twenty (120) Education hours required may come from a combination of any 
of the followin2 cate2ories: 

Option Eligible Hours 

1) A bachelor's degree or higher in Public 60 hours 
Administration or a related field*

2) A bachelor's degree or higher in an 10 hours 
unrelated field*

3) An associate degree 15 hours 

4) Completion of an International education 10 hours 
program approved through the IIMC
course review process

5) Attendance at an Annual Conference, 10 hours per conference 
IIMC regional meeting, municipal clerks'
association conference, municipal league
conference, or other municipal clerk-
related conferences

6) IIMC Approved Online programs 5 hours (20 hours max) 

7) Applicable college or university course 5 hours (20 hours max) 

Revised January 2025 9 Education Guidelines 



credits not aoolied toward a degree 
8) Applicable business or vocational school 5 hours (max) 

programs
* Official transcnpts are requrred.

Excess education points will be applied to experience by the IIMC Education Department during the 
designation application review period. 

CMC INTERNATIONAL EXPERIENCE HOUR REQUIREMENTS 

One Hundred (100) Experience Hours Required 
(Regions X-XI) 

The one hundred (100) experience hours required may come from any combination of the following 
categories: 

Option Eliltible Points 
1) Full-time Municipal Clerk* positions qualifying for 10 hours per year ( 40hrs. 

Full/Additional Full Membership maximum) 
2) Part-time Municipal Clerk* positions qualifying for 2 hours per year (30 hrs. 

Full/Additional Full Membership maximum) 
3) Other full-time positions in local government before becoming a 2 hours per year (30 hrs. 

Municipal Clerk* maximum) 
4) Administrative positions in federal, state, or provincial 2 hours per year (30 hrs. 

government maximum) 
5) Administrative positions in business 2 hours (30 hrs. 

maximum) 
6) IIMC Annual Conferences 20 hours per year 
7) Completion of an International education program approved 40 hours per year 

through the IIMC Course Review Process
8) IIMC committee member, IIMC Foundation, or Municipal Clerks 6 hours per year (12 hrs. 

Association Committee service
9) IIMC Athenian Leadership Dialogue

MMC INTERNATIONAL EDUCATION HOUR REQUIREMENTS 

One Hundred and Twenty (120) Education Hours Required 
(Regions X-XI) 

maximum) 
36 hours per year 

The one hundred and twenty (120) Education hours required may come from a combination of any 
of the following categories: 

Option Eligible Hours 

11) A bachelor's degree or higher in Public 60 hours 
Administration or a related field*

12) A bachelor's degree or higher in an unrelated 10 hours 
field*

13) An associate degree 15 hours 

14) Completion of an International education 10 hours 
program approved through the IIMC course
review process

Revised January 2025 10 Education Guidelines 



15) Attendance at an Annual Conference, IIMC IO hours 
regional meeting, municipal clerks'
association conference, municipal league
conference, or other municipal clerk-related
conferences

16) lIMC Approved Online programs 5 hours 
17) Applicable college or university course credits 5 hours 

not applied toward a degree
18) Applicable business or vocational school 5 hours 

programs
* Official transcripts are required.

Excess education points will be applied to experience by the lIMC Education Department during the 
designation application review period. 

MMC INTERNATIONAL PROFESSIONAL CONTRIBUTION HOUR REQUIREMENTS 

Eighty (80) Professional Contribution Hours Required 
(Regions X-XI) 

Obtaining the eighty (80) professional contribution hours required may come from a 
combination of any of the following categories: 

Option Eliltible Points 
1) Member of the IIMC Board or IIMC Foundation Board of Directors 2 hours per year (6 hrs. 

maximum) 
2) Chairperson ofIIMC, lIMC Foundation, or Municipal Clerks Association 2 hours per year 

Committee of service 
3) An officer or trustee of a municipal clerk association or 2 hours per year 

subdivision of service 
4) IIMC committee member, IIMC foundation, or municipal clerk 1 hour per year 

association committee member of service 
5) An officer in a related professional association 1 hour per year of 

service 
6) IIMC Annual Conference*** 20 hours per year 
7) Instructor, facilitator, or trainer for one of the following organizations: 20 hours per year 

• An IIMC-approved Institute/ Academy
• An International Association Education Program
• Applicable education programs*

8) Unique on-the-job performance or achievements outside daily duties that 20 hours per year 
benefit the profession or municipality**

9) Personal accomplishments of educational benefit to the profession 8 hours per 
accomplishment 

*Verifiable hours are educat10nal hours the hosting orgamzahon venfies and reflects m the supporting
documentation.
**In addition to verification of the teaching time provided by the hosting organization, the time spent
preparing for the presentation is eligible to be reviewed for credit. A first-hand letter outlining the
preparation and the number of hours dedicated to said preparation is required. The municipality or
organization where the service occurred must verify the unique on-the-job performance.
***With appropriate certificates of completion except "attendance only" certificates.

Revised January 2025 11 Education Guidelines 



EDUCATION PLUS PROGRAM (EPP) 

The Education PLUS Program is designed as an ADDITION to the current education programs (CMC and 
MMC) and is NOT a designation. Members MUST possess an MMC in good standing to apply. The EPP
program requires members to commit to lifelong education. The certification requirements include an
extensive and advanced educational component and a professional contribution component. EPP applicants
must demonstrate their active pursuit of educational and professional activities and remain informed of
current socio-political, cultural, and economic issues that affect local governments and municipalities.

The educational requirements for the EPP are advanced and complex, like those of the MMC program. The 
breadth and depth of the EPP courses are academically advanced. The IIMC Education Department is 
always a resource that assists in determining the education level of any course. Members must earn all 
points according to the provisions outlined in the requirements in this document. 

Educational Hours Tracking System 

The Education Plus Program (EPP) will use an "hour" basis tracking system rather than a "point" basis in 
contrast to the CMC and MMC designations. The EPP Program consists of a two-year scheduled 
enrollment cycle with 15 hours to be completed each year. The scheduled enrollment cycles begin on the 
first of the month and stop at the end of the scheduled month. Each cycle should contain the following: 

• 4 hours - Mandatory ethics training - first cycle only

• 4 hours - Mandatory diversity, equity, and inclusivity training (e.g., ADA, veterans (VA),
seniors, multi-generational, etc.) OR technological training - first cycle only

• hours of advanced education may be any combination of the below categories. The following is
an example of course subjects for the education component of the EPP Program. All courses must
fulfill the requirements of the IIMC Education Guidelines.

1) IIMC Approved Academy Program

2) Applicable College/University-Based Courses

3) State/National/Provincial Association Programs aooroved with Course Review

4) IIMCEducation (Annual Conference, Athenian Dialogues, Webinars, Online Learning, IIMC
Symposium)

5) Other Applicable Advanced Training Programs - Municipal Leadership Programs, University-
based certificate programs and courses, Certified Public Manager Programs, etc.

6) Elective - "community engagement" options may include writing an article for IIMC News Digest,
facilitating an education session for IIMC's annual conference, Institutes, and Academies, or online
professional development component *

*Subject to approval before participation. 

The following are the requirements for enrolling in the EPP Program: 

1) Hold an MMC designation in good standing.
2) Be an active Full, Additional Full, or Retired Member of IIMC.
3) Commit to completing 30 hours per two-year cycle (NO "saving" hours for future cycles or

allocating hours before enrollment into the program).
4) Submit the EPP application with all supporting documents after completing the first 2-year cycle.

Members must submit all required documentation on the scheduled completion date. No
incremental submissions will be accepted.

Revised January 2025 12 Education Guidelines 



CMC, MMC, AND EPP SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

Members must include supporting documentation with each application for each designation and the 
Education PLUS Program. 

S1JI!porting documentation contains: 
• The name of the applicant
• The date of the work
• The title/description/or nature of the work
• The date, location, and hours of attendance
• Any other pertinent information

Examples of Acceptable Materials: 
• A certificate of completion, transcript, or letter of verification from the hosting organization
• A letter of reference from the Human Resources Department verifying the duration, scope, and

nature of employment/unique service.
• A certificate of attendance from a State/Provincial/National Association, complete with hours of

attendance.
• A copy of official college transcripts

Note: If you need clarification on what kind of supporting documentation is acceptable, please contact the 
IIMC Education Department. 

IIMC cannot accept the following: 
• A first-person letter, except in the case outlined in these guidelines.
• A document from a relative or spouse of the applicant
• Incomplete documentation
• PowerPoint presentations, pamphlets, or workbooks

Once received, IIMC cannot send, mail, copy, or otherwise disseminate applications or supporting 
documentation. Members are required to keep the originals for their records and send IIMC copies. 

ATHENIAN LEADERSHIP SOCIETY POLICY 

Dialogues are conversations that go beyond the usual knowledge recall and application process familiar to 
municipal clerks in training seminars. They are unique because they explore leadership principles and 
practice, drawing on the insights from a book all participants have read. 

Dialogues are conversations in which clerks share their experience and understanding of the author's ideas 
and their relevance to their public leadership role. 

The premise of the Athenian Dialogue Society is that clerks are leaders in profound yet subtle ways. 
Leadership here differs from the transactional vending machine citizens seem to believe about public 
management. The participants' interest and involvement, as well as the author's specific focus and 
emphasis, require that the facilitator moves with purpose using the language of meaning, feeling, and 
power. Participants devote a full day (6 hours) to a Dialogue and experience intellectual enrichment. 

Clerk leadership is more transfonnational. Clerks' contribution to municipal leadership changes colleagues' 
and citizens' perceptions of the government's role and purpose. 

Athenian dialogues are IIMC programs that IIMC-approved institutes may offer 
state/national/provincial clerk associations. To be recognized by IIMC, all dialogues must undergo a 
pre-approval process with the education department. 

Revised January 2025 13 Education Guidelines 



IIMC-approved institutes and state/provincial/national associations are responsible for procuring an 
Athenian Dialogue. This responsibility includes hiring a facilitator and negotiating the contract, setting 
fees to cover costs, and marketing the dialogue. Institute directors who are approved Athenian Dialogue 
facilitators may contract to conduct dialogues, and participants must purchase their books. In this format, 
Athenian Dialogues remain an IIMC program; however, all logistics of the dialogue are the responsibility 
of the hosting organization. 

ATHENIAN FACILITATOR FORMAT AND GUIDELINES FOR ATHENIAN DIALOGUES 

Facilitators must conduct all 6-hour Athenian Dialogues live to ensure that the book's content and 
meaning and its key points are thoroughly dissected and discussed. All Dialogues must be pre
approved by the Education Department. 

The ideal Dialogue Facilitator should comprehend and dissect the essential leadership knowledge 
contained in and dispersed throughout an approved book. This knowledge must then be conveyed 
primarily through discussion, as opposed to lecture alone, eliciting input from each participant on the 
relevance and applicability of the principles and skills gleaned. The facilitator must build a "bridge" 
between the ideas in the selected book and the leadership concepts and principles relevant to the role 
of a Municipal Clerk. 

A Facilitator must be an excellent communicator. They should be able to listen and ask pertinent, 
thoughtful questions actively. They must be skilled at keeping the conversation going, able to summarize 
participants' unique contributions, and able to go beyond the pages of a single book to shed new light on 
the insights contained therein. They should be aware that some dialogues will require additional research. 

Requirements for IIMC Members 

• Must hold an MMC Designation in good standing

• Must be an IIMC member for at least five years

• Must complete the 6-hour mentoring program

• Must be inducted into the Athenian Leadership Society as a Fellow

• Instead of the Fellow requirement, an IIMC member who has attended a minimum of 3
Dialogues AND also meets one of the following criteria:

• The facilitator applicant has served as an adjunct instructor,
lecturer, or similar position at a college, university, or other
institutions of higher learning. Such a position must be
verified in writing by the college or university and submitted
to IIMC during the application process.

The facilitator applicant has presented programs at Institutes 
or Academies, State/National/Provincial Association level 
education programs, or IIMC Annual Conferences. Such 
experience must be verified in writing by the Institute Director 
or State Association Board of Directors and submitted to 
IIMC during the application process. 

• Must have experience facilitating or teaching adult education programs.

• Must submit the Athenian Facilitator Application form, a bio that supports the requirements, any

supporting documentation showing facilitation experience, and the "Mentor-Mentee
Agreement."

• Must Participate in IIMC-approved and required Athenian Facilitator Training before hosting
their first dialogue.

Revised January 2025 14 Education Guidelines 



Athenian Leadership Society Paul Craig Fellow requirements 

If you are interested in becoming an Athenian Leadership Society Paul Craig Fellow, you must: 

• Be an IIMC member in good standing
• Submit the Athenian Leadership Society Membership Application and the required $15

enrollment fee to IIMC
• Complete 10 Dialogues (participants are responsible for maintaining their attendance records)
• Submit the Athenian Leadership Society Fellow Application and include 10 Dialogue

Certificatesff ranscripts
• IIMC verifies attendance and notifies applicants when inducted as a Fellow
• New Athenian Paul Craig Fellow Inductees receive recognition at the IIMC Annual Conference

Requirements for Professionals and Academics 

• Working knowledge of the municipal clerk profession.

• Must understand the Athenian Dialogue program and its requirements.

• Must complete the 6-hour mentoring program.

• Must submit the Athenian Facilitator Application form, a bio that supports the requirements, any
supporting documentation showing facilitation experience, and the "Mentor-Mentee
Agreement."

• Must Participate in IIMC-approved and required Athenian Facilitator Training before their first
dialogue.

INSTITUTE AND ST ATE/PROVINCIAL/NATIONAL ASSOCIATION DIALOGUES 

If an Institute or Association is interested in creating a Dialogue, they must: 

• Procure their facilitator at a cost negotiated between the facilitator and the hosting organization.
The cost to participate can be determined by the hosting organization depending on the facilitator
and room rental, keeping costs at a minimum and eliminating the 10 participants minimum
required by IIMC.

• Participants must purchase their book and read it before attending the dialogue.
• Dialogues must be 6.0 educational hours in length.
• Seek pre-approval from IIMC for the facilitator and book if this is a new Dialogue or a new

Facilitator.
o For a new book, send the book title and author name to the Education Department for

review with a brief paragraph describing how the leadership lessons within the book are
related to the duties of a municipal clerk. New facilitators must go through the
Facilitator application process outlined in this policy.

o Suppose the facilitator and book are not new to the program. In that case, the hosting
organization must inform IIMC of the dialogue's logistics by submitting a copy of the
Dialogue registration form/flyer/brochure, the facilitator's proposed agenda, and a copy
of the learning assessment tool.

• Each participant seeking IIMC education points must complete and submit an assessment. The
hosting organization/facilitator will then review and distribute a certificate of completion stating
the book title, date, location, and the number of points signed by either the hosting organization or
facilitator. Should an attendee already hold the MMC designation or opt not to complete the
assessment, a certificate of completion will still be issued as above with the statement "Attendance
Only- No Learning Assessment" to replace the number of points listed. IIMC is not responsible

Revised January 2025 15 Education Guidelines 























Resolution R-2025-16 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CREATION OF A SEPARATE AND DEFINED 
ACCOUNT DEDICATED TO THE RECEIPT AND DISBURSEMENT OF PROCEEDS 

FOR CAPITAL AND INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS PURSUANT TO AN 
INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT WITH DEKALB COUNTY AND OTHER 
MUNICIPALITIES FROM THE SPECIAL PURPOSE LOCAL OPTION SALES TAX 

AUTHORIZED IN 2023 FOR THE CITY OF PINE LAKE 
 

WHEREAS, The City is a party to an Intergovernmental Agreement (“IGA”) with DeKalb 
County and the other qualified municipalities within DeKalb County related to the 
distribution and use of proceeds from 2023 Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax 
(“SPLOST II”); and  

 
WHEREAS, The City is also party to a second IGA with DeKalb County and the other qualified 

small municipalities of DeKalb County for the distribution of additional funds from 
SPLOST II specifically designated for Capital Outlay Projects; and 

 
WHEREAS, Georgia law  and the IGA require that proceeds from SPLOST II allocated by the 

County for Capital Outlay Projects in the participating cities be kept and maintained 
in a separate account, without co-mingling to be used only for the authorized 
Capital Outlay Projects as approved by the voters in the referendum, 
O.C.G.A. § 48-8-115(b)(1)(F); and 

 
WHEREAS, Generally Accepted Accounting Practices further requires guarding against 

commingling funds between authorized purposes.  
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the governing authority of the City of Pine 
Lake, Georgia, that the City Manager, or his designee, is authorized to establish and maintain a 
separate and distinct bank account, to be titled Small Cities Intergovernmental Agreement Fund, 
in an accredited and insured financial institution, authorized to do business in the State of Georgia, 
and physically located in DeKalb County, for the purposes of keeping separate and apart all funds 
received or spent as part of the Capital Outlay Project IGA for SPLOST II, thereby complying with 
the City’s obligations under the IGA and in accordance with State law and Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practices. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that any and all resolutions or any part thereof in conflict 

with this resolution are hereby repealed this Resolution shall be effective immediately upon its 
adoption. 

 
ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 29th day of April, 

2025. 
 
             
      BRANDY HALL 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
             
NED DAGENHARD    CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
Assistant City Clerk    City Attorney 



10.10.24 

1 
 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT  
FOR CAPTIAL OUTLAY PROJECTS LOCATED IN THE CITIES OF  

AVONDALE ESTATES, LITHONIA, PINE LAKE, AND STONE MOUNTAIN, GEORGIA 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this ______ day of _________, 2024 by and between 
DEKALB COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Georgia (hereinafter the "County"), and the Cities 
of AVONDALE ESTATES, LITHONIA, PINE LAKE, and STONE MOUNTAIN, each a municipal 
corporation of the State of Georgia (collectively hereinafter the "Municipalities"). 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 
 WHEREAS, the parties to this Agreement consist of the County and the Municipalities; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the County and the Municipalities desire to work together to complete capital outlay 
projects that significantly improve the health, safety, and welfare of all taxpayers and residents of DeKalb 
County and the Municipalities; and 
 
 WHEREAS, some of these projects include stormwater maintenance, resurfacing of roads, streets or 
repairs to bridges, or the improvement of recreational facilities within the Municipalities which are open to the 
public and draw significant use from the unincorporated area of the County; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the County and the Municipalities agree that these stormwater, road and recreation projects 
serve a public purpose from which the County and the Municipalities, their residents and the surrounding areas 
will derive substantial benefit; and 
  
 WHEREAS, the projects will improve infrastructure within the County, provide continuing recreational 
opportunities and benefits, promote tourism and economic development, and bring other substantial benefits to 
the County and the Municipalities; and 
 

WHEREAS, the capital outlay, infrastructure improvement projects identified herein shall directly 
benefit the citizens of the respective Municipalities, unincorporated DeKalb County, and ultimately benefit all 
citizens of DeKalb County; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the County and the Municipalities are authorized to enter into this Agreement by Georgia 
law, specifically including the following: Article IX, Section II, Paragraph II; Article IX, Section III, Paragraph 
I; and Article IX, Section IV, Paragraph II of the Constitution of the State of Georgia. 
  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and understandings made in this 
Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the County and the Municipalities consent and agree 
to the above recitals and as follows: 
 

Section 1. Projects 
 

A. Each Municipality, acting on its own behalf and as an agent of the County, shall undertake the capital 
outlay and infrastructure improvement projects (hereinafter referred to as the “Projects”) as described in detail 
for each Municipality in Attachment A, which is attached hereto and made part of this Agreement.  
 



10.10.24 

2 
 

B. All physical assets and Projects within the Municipalities improved pursuant to this Agreement shall 
remain the property and responsibility of the Municipalities. In completing the Projects and performing the work 
required by this Agreement, the County and Municipalities shall comply in all applicable respects with all 
applicable federal, state and local law including but not limited to O.C.G.A. §§ 48-8-109.1 et seq. and 48-8-110 
et seq. and all provisions of this Agreement shall be construed in light of the applicable provisions found in 
O.C.G.A. §§ 48-8-109.1 et seq. and 48-8-110 et seq. The Municipalities agree to promptly proceed with the 
acquisition, construction, equipping, installation, and execution of the Project(s) specified in Attachment A and 
this Agreement, as defined and authorized under O.C.G.A. §§ 48-8-109.1 et seq. and 48-8-110 et seq. that are 
approved for such purposes.   
 
C. The Municipalities shall undertake and oversee the letting of all contracts and the construction of all 
improvements pursuant to this Agreement in accordance with applicable state law. The Municipalities shall be 
responsible for entering into all contracts and securing all permits necessary for the projects.  Each Municipality 
hereby expressly acknowledges and agrees that the County shall bear no liability or responsibility for projects 
undertaken pursuant to this Agreement. The Municipalities shall maintain thorough and accurate records 
concerning their receipt and expenditure of all funds paid by the County to each Municipality.  Those records 
shall include but not be limited to the following:  any document which shows the progress of work and the 
completion of each Project; procurement documents, contracts, construction documents, and corresponding 
itemized invoices and proof of payment.  Upon written request, the Municipalities shall make such contracts, 
other construction documents, and all related documents available to the County. 
 
D. The Municipalities shall create and maintain any record required by federal or state law to ensure that 
the funds paid by the County to the City are used in full compliance with any applicable law. Such records shall 
be provided by the Municipality to the County promptly upon written request from the County’s Chief Executive 
Officer or designee to the Mayor of the respective Municipality. If any Municipality obtains or has insurance to 
cover any or all claims related to this Agreement or the Project(s) identified in this Agreement, the Municipality 
agrees to add the County as an additional insured on all such insurance obtained or maintained during the Term 
of this Agreement. Evidence of all such insurance coverage and additional insured status shall be provided by 
the Mayor of the respective Municipality or designee to the County’s Chief Executive Officer or designee within 
thirty (30) days of issuance of such insurance coverage.  
 

Section 2. Representations and Mutual Covenants 
   
A. County Representations.  The County, on its own behalf, makes the following representations and 
warranties which may be specifically relied upon by all parties as a basis for entering this Agreement. The 
County is a political subdivision duly created and organized under the Constitution of the State of Georgia. The 
governing authority of the County is duly authorized to execute, deliver and perform this Agreement.  This 
Agreement is a valid, binding, and enforceable obligation of the County. 
 
B. Municipality Representations.  The Municipalities, on its own behalf, makes the following 
representations and warranties, which may be specifically relied upon by all parties as a basis for entering this 
Agreement.  Each Municipality is a municipal corporation duly created and organized under the laws of the State 
of Georgia.  The governing authority of each Municipality is duly authorized to execute, deliver and perform 
this Agreement.  This Agreement is a valid, binding, and enforceable obligation of the respective Municipality. 
Each Municipality is a qualified Municipality as defined in O.C.G.A. § 48-8-110 (4).  Each Municipality is 
located entirely within the geographic boundaries of the SPLOST II special tax district created in the County.  
Each project funded through this Agreement shall be maintained as a public facility and in public ownership by 
the respective Municipality for the use and benefit of all residents of DeKalb County.  



10.10.24 

3 
 

 
Section 3. Effective Date and Term of this Agreement 

 
 This Agreement shall commence upon the date of its execution and shall terminate upon the later of: 

A. The expenditure by the County and the Municipalities of the last dollar of money collected from the 
SPLOST II after the expiration of the SPLOST II (see reference to the corresponding IGA in Section 7 below); 
or 
 

B. The completion of projects described in Attachment A for the respective Municipality; or 
 

C. As otherwise amended by the parties hereafter. 
 
Each Municipality shall provide an annual report to the County describing the project status and expenditures 
for that Municipality’s projects described in Attachment A during the preceding twelve (12) month period. Said 
annual report shall contain a statement reflecting the amount of funds remaining. When a respective Municipality 
has expended all of its funds described in Section 5 below, that Municipality shall issue a “Notice of Completion” 
and proof of completion to the County and all other Municipalities. As used in this section “proof of completion” 
means a certificate signed by the respective Municipality’s city manager affirming that all funds received 
pursuant to this Agreement have been expended by the respective Municipality in compliance with this 
Agreement. Should the County’s Chief Executive Officer or his or her designee fail to object to the “Notice of 
Completion” within 120-days of receipt of same, this Agreement shall automatically terminate as to that 
Municipality; provided that this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect as to each remaining 
Municipality. 
 

Section 4. Separate Account; No Commingling; Audit. 
 
 The Municipalities shall each create a special fund to be designated as the Avondale Estates, Lithonia, 
Pine Lake, and Stone Mountain Intergovernmental Agreement Capital Outlay/Infrastructure Improvement Fund, 
respectively, at a bank with an office or branch physically located within DeKalb County which shall act as a 
depository and custodian of the payment received by the Municipalities directly from the County pursuant to 
this Intergovernmental Agreement upon such terms and conditions as may be acceptable to the Municipalities. 
All payments pursuant to this Agreement shall be used exclusively for the purposes detailed in this Agreement 
and shall not be commingled with other funds of the Municipalities. 
 
 During the term of this Agreement, the distribution and use of all payments deposited in the Avondale 
Estates, Lithonia, Pine Lake, and Stone Mountain Intergovernmental Agreement Capital Outlay/Infrastructure 
Improvement Funds shall be audited by the Municipalities’ auditor in accordance with applicable state law and 
shall be available to the County's auditor. The County and each Municipality shall be responsible for the cost of 
their respective audits. During the term of this Agreement, the distribution and use of all proceeds deposited in 
the Avondale Estates, Lithonia, Pine Lake, and Stone Mountain Intergovernmental Agreement Capital 
Outlay/Infrastructure Improvement Fund shall be audited in accordance with O.C.G.A. § 48-8-121 (a)(2) by the 
Municipalities’ auditor for the Municipalities project(s). Each Municipality shall be responsible for the cost of 
their respective audit and shall provide copies of the audit to the County and Executive Assistant within thirty 
(30) days of receipt of the audit.   
 
 
 
 



10.10.24 

4 
 

Section 5. Procedure for Disbursement of Project Payments 
 
 Not later than December 31, 2024, the County shall pay the Municipalities that have fully executed this 
Agreement $2,000,000.00 each for the Projects.  The County’s payment of $2,000,000.00 to each Municipality 
shall be used solely to complete the Project(s) described in Attachment A and said Project(s) shall be completed 
by the termination date of this Agreement.  
 

Section 6. Notices 
 

 All notices, consents, waivers, directions, requests or other instruments or communications provided for 
under this Agreement shall be deemed properly given when hand delivered or sent by registered or certified 
United States mail, postage prepaid to the following addresses. The parties agree to give each other non-binding 
duplicate email notice. Future changes in address shall be effective upon written notice being given by a 
Municipality to the County Executive Assistant or by the County to a Municipality via certified first-class U.S. 
mail, return receipt requested. 
 
DeKalb County: 
 
Chief Operating Officer/Executive Assistant  
1300 Commerce Drive, 6th Floor  
Decatur, Georgia 30030  
 
With a copy to: 
County Attorney   
1300 Commerce Drive, 5th Floor 
Decatur, Georgia 30030 
 
City of Avondale Estates:       City of Lithonia: 
 
Patrick Bryant         Donald DeJarnette 
City Manager         City Administrator 
21 N. Avondale Plz.        6920 Main Street 
Avondale Estates, Georgia 30002      Lithonia, Georgia 30058 

 
With a copy to:        With a copy to: 

 
Stephen Quinn         Winston A. Denmark, Esq. 
Wilson, Morton & Downs LLC      Denmark Ashby LLC 
125 Clairmont Avenue, Ste. 420      100 Hartsfield Centre, Suite #400 
Decatur, Georgia 30030       Atlanta, Georgia 30354 

 
 

City of Pine Lake:        City of Stone Mountain: 
 

ChaQuias Miller-Thornton       Shawn Edmondson 
City Manager         City Manager 
P.O. Box 1325         875 Main Street 
Pine Lake, Georgia 30072       Stone Mountain, Georgia 30083 



10.10.24 

5 
 

 
With copy to:         With copy to:  

 
Susan Moore         Jeffrey M. Strickland   
2367 North Decatur Road       Jarrard & Davis, LLP   
Decatur, Georgia 30033       222 Webb Street  
          Cumming, GA 30040   
 

Section 7. Entire Agreement 
 
 This Agreement, together with the applicable provisions of the Intergovernmental Agreement for the Use 
and Distribution of Proceeds from the One Percent Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax, dated August 24, 
2023, between the parties hereto (“SPLOST II IGA”), constitutes all of the understandings and agreements 
existing between the County and the Municipalities with respect to the projects to be performed by the 
Municipalities for the benefit of the County. With the exception of the SPLOST II IGA, this Agreement 
supersedes all prior agreements, negotiations and communications of whatever type, whether written or oral, 
between the parties hereto with respect to the projects. No representation oral or written not incorporated in this 
Agreement shall be binding upon the County or the Municipalities. 
 

Section 8. Amendments 
 
 This Agreement shall not be amended or modified except by agreement in writing executed by the 
County and the Municipalities. 

 
Section 9. Severability, Non-Waiver, Applicable Law, and Enforceability 

 
 If a court of competent jurisdiction renders. any provision of this Agreement (or portion of a provision) 
to be invalid or otherwise unenforceable, that provision or portion of the provision will be severed and the 
remainder of this Agreement will continue in full force and effect as if the invalid provision or portion of the 
provision were not part of this Agreement. No action taken pursuant to this Agreement should be deemed to 
constitute a waiver of compliance with any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement contained in this 
Agreement and will not operate or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach, whether of a similar or 
dissimilar nature. This Agreement is governed by the laws of the State of Georgia without regard to conflicts of 
law principles thereof. Should any provision of this Agreement require judicial interpretation, it is agreed that 
the arbitrator or court interpreting or construing the same shall not apply a presumption that the terms hereof 
shall be more strictly construed against one party by reason of the rule of construction that a document is to be 
construed more strictly against the party who itself or through its agent prepared the same, it being agreed that 
the agents of all parties have participated in the preparation hereof. 
 

Section 10. Dispute Resolution 
 
A. Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the breach thereof, shall be 
settled by arbitration administered by the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its Commercial 
Arbitration Rules and judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator(s) may be entered in any court having 
jurisdiction thereof. 
 
 
 



10.10.24 

6 

B. Claims shall be heard by a single arbitrator, unless the claim amount exceeds $500,000, in which case
the dispute shall be heard by a panel of three arbitrators. Where the claim is to be heard by single arbitrator, the
arbitrator shall be selected pursuant to the list process provided for in the Commercial Arbitration Rules unless
the parties to the arbitration are able to select an arbitrator independently by mutual agreement. The arbitrator
shall be a lawyer with at least ten (10) years of active practice in commercial law and/or local government law.
Where the claim is to be heard by a panel of three arbitrators, selection shall occur as follows. Within fifteen
(15) days after the commencement of arbitration, the Municipalities shall select one person to act as arbitrator
and the County shall select one person to act as an arbitrator. The two selected arbitrators shall then select a third
arbitrator within ten (10) days of their appointment. If the arbitrators selected by the parties are unable or fail to
agree upon the third arbitrator, the third arbitrator shall be selected by the American Arbitration Association.
This third arbitrator shall be a former judge in the State or Superior Courts of Georgia or a former federal district
judge.

C. The arbitration shall be governed by the laws of the State of Georgia. The standard provisions of the
Commercial Rules shall apply. Arbitrators will have the authority to allocate the costs of the arbitration process
among the parties but will only have the authority to allocate attorneys' fees if a particular law permits them to
do so, specifically including O.C.G.A. § 9-15-14. The award of the arbitrators shall be accompanied by a written
opinion that includes express findings of fact and conclusions of law.

Section 11. No Consent to Breach 

No consent or waiver, express or implied, by any party to this Agreement, to any breach of any covenant, 
condition or duty of another party shall be construed as a consent to or waiver of any future breach of the same. 

Section 12. Counterparts 

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of 
which shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 

(remainder of this page intentionally left blank) 

(signature pages follow) 



  
  
  
  10/10/24 

7  

 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County and the Municipalities acting through its duly 
authorized agents have caused this Agreement to be signed, sealed and delivered for final 
execution by the County on the date indicated herein. 
 
 
 
 

DEKALB COUNTY, GEORGIA 
 
 
 
 

________________________________(SEAL) 
      MICHAEL L. THURMOND 
      Chief Executive Officer 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
BARBARA SANDERS-NORWOOD, CCC 
Clerk to the Board of Commissioners  
and Chief Executive Officer 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO SUBSTANCE: APPROVED AS TO FORM AND 

LEGAL VALIDITY: 
 
 
 
_______________________________  __________________________ 
ZACHARY L. WILLIAMS    VIVIANE H. ERNSTES 
Chief Operating Officer    County Attorney 
 
 
 
 
 
  



  
  
  
  10/10/24 

8  

CITY OF AVONDALE ESTATES, 
GEORGIA 
 
       Attest: 
 
 
 
__________________________(SEAL)   _______________________ 
     
Mayor Jonathan Elmore     Municipal Clerk   
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO SUBSTANCE: APPROVED AS TO FORM AND 

LEGAL VALIDITY: 
 
 
_______________________________  __________________________ 
 
City Manager Patrick Bryant    City Attorney Stephen Quinn 
  



  
  
  
  10/10/24 

9  

CITY OF LITHONIA, GEORGIA 
       Attest: 
 
 
 
__________________________(SEAL)   _______________________ 
     
Mayor Shameka Reynolds    Municipal Clerk Ashley Waters  
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO SUBSTANCE:  APPROVED AS TO FORM 
 AND LEGAL VALIDITY: 
 
 
 
_______________________________  __________________________ 
 
City Manager Donald Dejarnette   City Attorney Winston A. Denmark 
  



  
  
  
  10/10/24 

10  

CITY OF PINE LAKE, GEORGIA 
       Attest: 
 
 
 
__________________________(SEAL)   _______________________ 
     
Mayor        Municipal Clerk   
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO SUBSTANCE:  APPROVED AS TO FORM 
       AND LEGAL VALIDITY: 
 
 
 
_______________________________  __________________________ 
 
City Manager      City Attorney 
  



  
  
  
  10/10/24 

11  

CITY OF STONE MOUNTAIN, 
GEORGIA 
       Attest: 
 
 
 
__________________________(SEAL)   _______________________ 
Beverly Jones,      Shawn Edmondson, 
Mayor        Municipal Clerk   
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO SUBSTANCE:  APPROVED AS TO FORM 
       AND LEGAL VALIDITY: 
 
 
  
 
_______________________________  __________________________ 
Shawn Edmondson,     Jeff M. Strickland, 
City Manager      City Attorney



   
   
  10/10/24 

12  

ATTACHMENT A 
 

AVONDALE ESTATES: 
 
 The Municipality, acting on its own behalf and as an agent of the County, shall undertake the 
reconstruction, repair and capital improvement of its stormwater infrastructure within the Municipality 
to improve stormwater collection and management in the Municipality and in surrounding “downstream” 
unincorporated areas of the County. 
 
LITHONIA: 
 
 
The Municipality, acting on its own behalf and as an agent of the County, shall undertake reconstruction, repair 
and capital improvement projects within the Municipality at its greenspace, park, amphitheater and other 
recreational facilities, which are available for use and are used by residents of both the Municipality and the 
County and which improvements will contribute to tourism and economic development within the Municipality 
and in the surrounding unincorporated areas of the County. The Municipality may also undertake projects to 
improve new underground Stormwater projects, sidewalks, paving projects, curbing projects within the Municipality 
that are made publicly available for use by all residents of the County and that contribute to tourism and 
economic development within the County. 
 
 
 
PINE LAKE: 
 
The Municipality, acting on its own behalf and as an agent of the County, shall undertake the reconstruction and 
repair of the dam at Pine Lake and capital improvements to the adjacent lake, wetlands and greenspace as well 
as road, street and bridge projects, to improve stormwater collection and management in the unincorporated area 
of the County and in the Municipality. The Municipality may also undertake projects to improve recreational 
facilities, such as the lake, dam, wetlands, parks and greenspace, that are made publicly available for use by all 
residents of the County and that contribute to tourism and economic development within the County. 
 
STONE MOUNTAIN: 
 
The Municipality, acting on its own behalf and as an agent of the County, shall undertake the reconstruction, 
repair and capital improvement of its stormwater facility infrastructure to improve stormwater collection and 
management in the Municipality and in the surrounding unincorporated areas of the County. The Municipality 
may also undertake reconstruction, repair and capital improvement projects at its greenspace, parks and other 
recreational facilities which are available for use and are used by residents of both the Municipality and the 
County and which improvements will contribute to tourism and economic development within the Municipality 
and in the surrounding unincorporated areas of the County. 
 







Resolution R-2025-17 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A CONTRACT FOR 
INSURANCE SERVICES WITH THE GEORGIA INTERLOCAL RISK 

MANAGEMENT AGENCY FOR THE PERIOD MAY 1, 2025 TO MAY 1, 2026 
 

WHEREAS, The City of Pine Lake is a member of the Georgia Interlocal Risk Management 
Agency (“GIRMA”), a risk pool offered by the Georgia Municipal Association; and  

 
WHEREAS, GIRMA is authorized by O.C.G.A. § 36-85-7; and 
 
WHEREAS, GIRMA is a risk management pool whereby municipalities across the state pool 

funds to provide for defense of covered actions and indemnity for appropriate losses 
within the terms of the coverage agreement; and 

 
WHEREAS, Policy costs are kept below market rates in most instances; and 
 
WHEREAS, For the Policy Term of May 1, 2025 to May 1, 2026, the cost of coverage is $44,635 

and an additional $1560 for cyber coverage; and 
 
WHEREAS, Because GIRMA is an authorized intergovernmental risk management pool, bids 

or proposals are not required.  
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the governing authority of the City of Pine 
Lake, Georgia, that the City authorizes the participation in GIRMA for the period May 1, 2025 to 
May 1, 2026, that the Mayor is authorized to execute any agreement, contract or policy giving 
effect to the purchase of this coverage and protection for the City.. 
 

ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 29h day of April, 2025. 
 

 
 
             
      BRANDY HALL 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
             
NED DAGENHARD    CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
Assistant City Clerk    City Attorney 
 
 
 























Resolution R-2025-18 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AN AMENDMENT  
TO THE FISCAL YEAR 2025 BUDGET 

 
WHEREAS, During the 2025/26 Legislative Session, the General Assembly adopted House Bill 

92 (“HB 92”) which the Governor has signed into law with immediate effect; and  
 
WHEREAS, The Bill as approved by the Governor requires each taxing authority (which 

includes municipal corporations like the City of Pine Lake) to establish by May 1, 
2025 a Rollback Millage Rate for application to taxable values of real property for 
2025 real and personal property taxes; and 

 
WHEREAS, The City Council for the City of Pine Lake has previously expressed its intent, 

following a series of public hearings at which no opposition was voiced by any 
citizen of Pine Lake, to opt out of the state wide ad valorum tax scheme passed by 
the Legislature and approved by voters in 2024; and 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the governing authority of the City of Pine 

Lake, Georgia, that the estimated Rollback Rate for ad valorum tax purposes for calendar year 
2025 is certified by the City, based on current available information and without the benefit of the 
release of a certified Tax Digest by the DeKalb County Board of Tax Assessors, to be 19.4 mills. 
 

ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 29th day of April, 
2025. 

 
 
             
      BRANDY HALL 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
             
NED DAGENHARD    CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
Acting City Clerk    City Attorney 
 
 
 

























SPECIAL PURPOSE LOCAL OPTION SALES TAX (SPLOST) II 

The Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax (SPLOST) was enacted by the General Assembly in 1985. 
The SPLOST was conceived and enacted as a county tax for funding capital projects. It is not a municipal 
tax. As a county tax, it can only be initiated by the county governing authority. 

Pine Lake projects to be funded from the City of Pine Lake's share of the proceeds may include (a) roads, 
streets, bridges, bicycle paths and sidewalks, improvements of surface-water drainage from roads, streets, 
bridges and sidewalks, and other stormwater capital outlay projects; (b) recreational facilities including 
but not limited to parks, lakes, dams, trails, and acquisition of land; ( c) public safety facility renovations 
and equipment; and ( d) public works facility renovations. 

The following SPLOST II Fund project expenditures (P) totaling $260,000 (as detailed in the April 2025 
Strategic Performance Report) are recommended as modifications to the Fiscal Year 2025 original 
budget: ( lP) Old City Hall building renovations - $98,000; (2P) Skid steer - $55,000; (3P) Roof 
replacements - $44,100; (4P) Public Works truck - $29,000; (5P) Tree canopy management - $25,000; 
and (6P) Utility vehicle - $8,900. 

RESOURCE IMPACT 

Budget impacts are as follows: General Fund $336,670, SPLOST I $65,000, SPLOST II $260,000, and 
Small Cities Intergovernmental Capital Outlay $782,760. 

ATTACHMENTS 

Resolution 
Exhibit A: FY 2025 Budget "Modifications" Amendments by Fund 
Strategic Performance Report Special Edition: Budget Modifications April 2025 

Stanley D Hawthorne 
City Manager 

stanleyhawthome@pinelaRegQ.net 
425 Allgood Road Stone Mountain GA 30083 

PO Box 1325 • Pine Latie,. GA 300TI • 404-999-4932 
www.pinelallega.net 



Resolution R-2025-19 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AN AMENDMENT  
TO THE FISCAL YEAR 2025 BUDGET 

 
WHEREAS, The Charter of the City of Pine Lake requires the City to prepare and pass a 

balanced budget; and  
 
WHEREAS, The City passed a Resolution on or about December 17, 2024 approving a budget 

for Fiscal Year 2025; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Fiscal Year 2025 budget requires amendments to account for actual 

expenditures anticipated for the Fiscal Year; and 
 
WHEREAS, In order to comply with the terms and conditions of the Charter as well as Generally 

Accepted Accounting Practices, the Amendment approved by this Resolution is 
required;  

 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the governing authority of the City of Pine 
Lake, Georgia, that the Amended Fiscal Year 2025 Annual Budget for the City of Pine Lake 
(attached as Exhibit A, Budget Modifications)  is hereby APPROVED and made a part of the 
spending plan for Fiscal Year 2025. 
 

ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 29th day of April, 
2025. 

 
 
 
             
      BRANDY HALL 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
             
NED DAGENHARD    CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
Acting City Clerk    City Attorney 
 
 
 



page 1




page 2



page 3



page 4



 

1 
 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT: APRIL 2025 

 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT 

SPECIAL EDITION: BUDGET MODIFICATIONS 

APRIL 2025  

 

 

Honorable Mayor and Council Members, 

I am pleased to submit for your review and consideration a special edition of the Strategic 

Performance Report with this third installment entirely devoted to budget modifications of the 

Fiscal Year 2025 Adopted Budget. I’d like to begin with a financial review of the City’s General 

Fund. 

 

GENERAL FUND FINANCIAL REVIEW 

As we prepare for the first quarter review and amendment of the Fiscal Year 2025 Adopted 

Budget, it has been important for me to conduct a deeper dive into the City’s financial [funds] 

structure, policies and net position. I refer to it as my financial thesis only begun and far from 

finished. As I am incrementally writing and sharing my thesis, I hope it will assist in guiding 

budget recommendations, deliberations, and tough decisions ahead balancing critical needs of 

the community with limited financial resources including the upcoming annual setting of the 

property tax millage rate.  

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City supporting the bulk of services and 

operations as authorized by the charter such as public safety, development, parks and recreation, 

roads and streets, inspections and engineering services, and various general administrative 

services on behalf of the residents of the City. 



 

2 
 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT: APRIL 2025 

Correspondingly, those services require a supporting revenue base. For the Fiscal Year 2025 

Adopted Budget, taxes accounted for 87 percent of revenues for the General Fund. Fines and 

forfeitures, primarily for court related revenues, make up the next highest percentage at just over 

8 percent. These two categories represent 95 percent of the total revenue budget. 

Fund Balance Policy: Best Practices 

The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA), founded in 1906, represents public 

finance officials throughout the United States and Canada. The association’s more than 20,000 

members are federal, state/provincial, and local finance officials deeply involved in planning, 

financing, and implementing thousands of governmental operations in each of their jurisdictions. 

GFOA’s mission is to advance excellence in public finance. 

For its members, it has established “Best Practices” for various financial policies and procedures 

including “Fund Balance Guidelines for the General Fund.” Governments should establish a 

formal policy on the level of unrestricted fund balance that should be maintained in the general 

fund for generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and budgetary purposes. 

GAAP financial statements report up to five separate categories of fund balance based on the 

type and source of constraints placed on how resources can be spent (presented in descending 

order from most constraining to least constraining): nonspendable fund balance, restricted fund 

balance, committed fund balance, assigned fund balance, and unassigned fund balance. The total 

of the amounts in these last three categories (where the only constraint on spending, if any, is 

imposed by the government itself) is termed unrestricted fund balance. 

It is essential that governments maintain adequate levels of fund balance to mitigate current and 

future risks (for example, revenue shortfalls and unanticipated expenditures) and to ensure stable 

tax rates. In most cases, discussions of fund balance will properly focus on a government’s 

general fund. Nonetheless, financial resources available in other funds should also be considered 

in assessing the adequacy of unrestricted fund balance in the general fund. 

The adequacy of unrestricted fund balance in the general fund should take into account each 

government’s own unique circumstances. For example, governments that may be vulnerable to 

natural disasters, more dependent on a volatile revenue source, or potentially subject to cuts in 

state aid and/or federal grants may need to maintain a higher level in the unrestricted fund 

balance. 

GFOA recommends, at a minimum, that general-purpose governments, regardless of size, 

maintain unrestricted budgetary fund balance in their general fund of no less than two month 

[16.6%] of regular general fund operating revenues or regular general fund operating 

expenditures. 

 



 

3 
 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT: APRIL 2025 

City of Pine Lake Fund Balance (General Fund) 

At the end of Fiscal Year 2023, the General Fund had an unassigned fund balance of $660,646 

while the total fund balance totaled $675,843. As a measure of the general fund’s liquidity, it 

may be useful to compare both unassigned fund balance and total fund balance to total fund 

expenditures. Unassigned fund balance represents 57.6% of the total general fund expenditures, 

while total fund balance represents 58.9% of that same amount. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

4 
 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT: APRIL 2025 

BUDGET MODIFICATIONS 

For this important exercise, Department Directors are expected to assess functional 

responsibilities for improving services on behalf of Pine Lake's constituents. This exercise for 

Fiscal Year 2025 is abbreviated to only those most urgent issues that were not approved as part of 

the adopted budget. 

Departmental expertise and insight as well as best practices' benchmarking are critical to 

determining appropriate resources and processes for building better community. Budget 

modification requests must be justified by meeting at least one of the following criteria: service 

improvement; revenue generating; program mandated; cost reduction; or a workload change. 

After identifying the basis of justification above, departments composed a narrative for each 

budget modification similar to topics developed for the normal strategic performance report: a 

topical title followed by description that is concise in nature and accented with an image for 

more relatable reading. 

Budget modifications apply to revenue projections as well as staffing, operating, and capital 

expenditure requests for Fiscal Year 2025.  

 

Taxes 

 

The original 2025 budgeted revenue for real estate ad valorem taxes is $790,595 based on the 

2024 adopted millage rate of 19.4 mills and modest increase to the City’s overall value of taxable 

real and personal property value projected at $46,041,056. The actual collection in 2024 was 

$802,264. Factoring a status quo millage rate and three percent valuation increase, it is 

recommended that the budgeted ad valorem tax revenue for 2025 is modified to $826,300. 

The original 2024 budgeted revenue for personal property taxes was 29,000; actual receipts 

totaled $46,450. For 2023, actual receipts totaled 34,821. For 2025, revenue for personal 

property taxes is budgeted at $27,000; a budget modification to $40,000 is recommended.  

  



 

5 
 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT: APRIL 2025 

Fines and Forfeitures 

 

 

Revenue categories include court receipts, probation, and court-assessed add-on fees. 2023 

collections totaled $85,266 while 2024 collections jumped to $110,492. A budget modification to 

$103,450 is recommended to the 2025 original projection of $94,950. 

 

Position Classification and Pay Plan Implementation 

 

 

Section 3.16 of the City Charter provides “The city manager shall be responsible for the 

preparation of a position classification and pay plan which shall be submitted to the city council 

for approval.” The study and approval phases will develop, implement, and maintain an equitable 

classification and pay system that accurately reflects the work performed by City employees and 

ensures that they are equitably compensated for their services. Market surveys, along with 

analysis, will be conducted by a third-party expert. A budget modification of $125,000 is 

recommended. 



 

6 
 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT: APRIL 2025 

Community Development Services 

 

As documented in the Planning Retreat Report from October 2024, the City Council identified 

four strategic priorities (goals). The fourth goal calls for the revamping of city codes and 

ordinances with an emphasis on code enforcement on a city-wide basis. Objectives include 

implementing a robust plan to pursue code enforcement on an immediate basis; define the types 

of codes desired and focus on updates; research other cities and their code enforcement practices; 

review downtown boundaries and define a comprehensive plan for conditions, standards, and 

expectations; and share the vision with the public and downtown businesses to gain input and 

support. 

As the City Council has requested a Special Work Session for June 2025 to discuss their 

priorities and preferences of a bona fide code compliance and/or enforcement program to be 

developed with an expectation of sufficient resources to implement, a budget modification 

placeholder of $50,000 is recommended for future contracted services. 

 

 



 

7 
 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT: APRIL 2025 

Administration (composed by Ned Dagenhard) 

Other Professional Services 

The Administrative “Front Desk” Office facilitates the review of many facets of the City of Pine 

Lake’s operations. One of the larger areas under the purview of this office involves a series of 

reviews and inspections required for any development, from residential patio installations to 

commercial new builds on undeveloped lots. While structural developments require review from 

our building inspection authority (AKA “Building Official”), SafeBuilt, the more complex and 

prolific reviews and inspections are required by areas of our Municipal code, that of the State of 

Georgia, and even the Federal Government: Zoning Compliance; and Erosion, Sedimentation, 

and Pollution Control (“ES&PC”). The field expert contractors assigned to these respective 

categories are Bill Johnston (Zoning 

Mechanics) and Amanda Corr Russell 

(Clark Patterson Lee). 

Not only do these areas require legwork by 

our contractors, they require the expertise 

and certification these individuals bear. The 

law surrounding enforcement of a local 

zoning ordinance reflects back to the legal 

foundations of the Country as it relates to 

private property.  

In turn, ES&PC answers to the State of Georgia, as Pine Lake is rife with State-regulated 

waterways. Additionally, the State Environmental Protection Division and Federal Clean Water 

Act empower the ES&PC “best management practices” enforced by Amanda. In other words, 

these are both highly consequential but often unnoticed functions of our local government. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

8 
 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT: APRIL 2025 

Improving Efficiency and Effectiveness 

Under previous highly centralized management of 

planning and permitting, Bill Johnston (our Zoning 

Administrator) often took on an advisory role. 

Whether or not that system functioned is moot; it is 

clear in hindsight it was not sustainable. If Pine 

Lake sees a future of robust development, 

maintaining and enhancing community character 

and abiding its ethos of environmentalism and 

sustainability, as well as the law, these contractors 

need to be fully utilized. En lieu of this, a budget 

modification of the line item out of which these two contractors—Zoning Mechanics and Clark 

Patterson Lee—are paid requires an increase. 

 

It does not appear the any funds have been budgeted to account for the routine 

inspections performed by Clark Patterson Lee and required by the State of 

Georgia. This line-item adjustment will require a contract with an engineering 

firm, negotiated fee based on the routine requirement, that will hopefully result 

in an increase of no more than approximately $24,000 (which takes the low-

end round number average of monthly invoices received by Clark Patterson 

Lee in fiscal year (FY) 2025 multiplied out for the year). 

The current budgeted amount for Zoning Mechanics is $3,600. A review of 

FY2025 invoices received found this to be insufficient by about 55%. The average invoice 

received by Zoning Mechanics is $660. Multiplied out for the year, this results in an approximate 

total across the year of $7,920, requiring an increase of approximately $4,320. 

Lining It All Up 

In addition to accounting for additional utilization of our planning contractors, appropriation is 

also required for another consequential department paid out of the Other Professional Services 

Administrative line item: our Finance Director, Danny Lamonte (Municipal Central). Danny 

himself has predicted that his current 30-hour weekly dedication to Pine Lake will likely be 

eligible for reduction following this massive undertaking—implementation of the City’s FY2025 

Budget modification. As we enter the second quarter of the fiscal year, Danny predicts he will be 

able to sufficiently meet his contractual obligations in 20 hours weekly. This requires that an 

additional $87,750 be added to the Other Professional Services line item.  

 

To recapitulate, the recommended total budget increase for other professional services is 

$116,070. 



 

9 
 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT: APRIL 2025 

 

Legal Expenses  

My second recommendation involves increasing the line 

item for Legal Expenses, as the current budgeted amount 

will likely be exhausted by next month. This would result in 

increasing this line item from $22,000 to approximately 

$60,000. As the City desires to ensure lawful compliance in 

facilitation of commercial development, capital 

improvements, code enforcement, and the inevitable updates 

to its ordinance likely required by all of these ventures, this 

increase in utilization appears to be imperative.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

10 
 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT: APRIL 2025 

Court (composed by Stephanie Capers) 

 
 

Constitutional Rights of Defendants in Municipal Court 

A municipal court must ensure that defendants are able to exercise a number of 

different constitutional rights. If the defendant is unable to exercise one of these 

Rights, the municipal court and the city could be subject to lawsuits. 

 

Public Defenders 

A public defender is an attorney who is paid by public funds to represent indigent 

people in criminal cases. 

The municipal court shall have a procedure and forms consistent with state law to determine 

indigence and to appoint counsel to defendants who apply and qualify for appointed counsel. 

(RULE 21 of the Uniform Rules of Municipal Court). 

 

Attorney Ansley Sluss has been approved for 12 court sessions at a rate of $300.00 per session, a 

budget amendment is therefore requested for a total annual cost of $3600 for 2025. 

 

Interpreters 

Municipal courts are required by law to provide interpreters and other language 

services to any defendant who has limited English proficiency and to those who are deaf or hard 

of hearing at no cost to the defendant. (RULE 14 of the Uniform Rules of Municipal Court). 

 

An estimate of 1 interpreter for 12 court sessions at an average invoice of $250 would result in a 

request for a budget amendment of at least $3000 for 2025. 

 

 

 

 



 

11 
 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT: APRIL 2025 

Police (composed by Sarai Y’Hudah-Green) 

 
Body-worn Cameras 

 

Body-worn cameras and dash cameras are critical tools for improving transparency and 

accountability in law enforcement activities. These cameras serve as objective records of 

interactions between officers and the public, which can provide essential evidence for 

investigations, support public trust, and enhance officer safety. 

 

Currently, the Pine Lake agency is facing challenges with outdated equipment or insufficient 

coverage. After assessing the needs, it is determined that the purchase of a body cameras system 

is necessary to maintain the efficiency and effectiveness of our operations. 

 

The proposed budget adjustment will cover the costs of purchasing the required cameras, 

ongoing maintenance, software for storage and data management, and training for staff on proper 

usage and legal compliance. 

 

The adjustment will be funded by funds made available by the Special Purpose Local Option 

Sales Tax (SPLOST I) Program.  The investment is expected to result in increased 

accountability, safety, or operational efficiency. The budget modification request is $20,000. 

 

Police Patrol Vehicle 

 

The Pine Lake Police Department has a current fleet of six vehicles (1- unmarked chiefs vehicle 

and 5-patrol vehicles).  We recently decommissioned and surplused two that are pending sale via 

govedeals. The fleet vehicles that remain are the 2021, Dodge Charger, the 2014 Dodge 

Charger/donated by Sandy Springs Police Department PD and the 2014 Ford Explorer also 

donated by the Sandy Springs PD.  These vehicles also need significant work (one of which is 

currently at the dealership pending repair for the lifters and the heating and cooling system). It is 



 

12 
 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT: APRIL 2025 

especially important to ensure that each vehicle is in good working condition, since they are 

essential for the department’s operations. 

It is cost prohibitive to continue repairing vehicles in poor condition. A new patrol vehicle will 

significantly cut the cost of maintenance and repair. Additionally, time is of the essence as the 

cost of these vehicles have risen 2 thousand dollars since initial research for a new vehicle.  

There is also concern with the current market and the impact of newly imposed tariffs on 

imports. 

The purchase of a new patrol vehicle for the Police Department could use the funds available 

from the SPLOST Program. The budget modification is $45,000. 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

13 
 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT: APRIL 2025 

Public Works (composed by Bernard Kendrick) 

BUDGET MODIFICATIONS  

 
 

 
 

 

 



 

14 
 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT: APRIL 2025 

 
Public Works Equipment Replacement 

Public works departments are responsible for maintaining critical infrastructure, including roads, 

water systems, and public buildings. Proper equipment ensures these services remain functional 

and efficient. 

Equipment reliability ensures public safety by keeping roads clear and reducing hazards, proper 

management of trucks and maintenance equipment prevent health risks and environmental 

concerns. Up-to-date equipment ensures compliance with local, state, and federal regulations. 

Investing in modern, reliable equipment reduces downtime, repair costs, and inefficiencies 

associated with outdated machinery.  Newer equipment often has better fuel efficiency, lower 

emissions, and lower operational costs.  Automated or technologically advanced equipment 

increases productivity. 

As cities grow, public works departments need additional or upgraded equipment to handle 

increased demand for services. Investment in equipment supports economic development by 

ensuring roads, utilities, and public spaces are maintained. 

 

2025 Mid-Size Truck 

A mid-size truck is a practical and cost-effective solution for various operational needs. Below 

are key justifications for acquiring one: 

 

Versatility & Functionality, Cost Efficiency, Improved Accessibility & Maneuverability, 

Sufficient Towing & Payload Capacity, Employee Productivity & Safety, Sustainability & Fleet 

Efficiency 

 

BUDGET IMPACT $30,000 

 

Club Car Utility Vehicle 

A utility club cart is a versatile, cost-effective vehicle used for transportation and light-duty 

hauling in various operational environments. Below are key justifications for its acquisition: 

 

Cost Efficiency, Fuel Savings – Available in electric or gas-powered models, Improved Mobility 

& Accessibility, Off-Road Capability, Versatile Utility & Hauling Capacity, and reduces reliance 

on larger trucks for short-distance hauling, freeing up heavier vehicles for more demanding 

tasks,  Increased Productivity & Employee Efficiency, Safety & Environmental Benefits, Electric 

Models Reduce Emissions, augments Security & Patrols, Hospitality & Events. 

 

Conclusion 

A utility club cart enhances efficiency, reduces costs, and improves operational effectiveness, 

making it a smart investment for our operations. 

BUDGET IMPACT $12,000 

 



 

15 
 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT: APRIL 2025 

 

Mid-Size Skid Steer 

A skid steer is a highly versatile, compact piece of equipment used across various industries, 

including construction, landscaping, agriculture, and public works. Its ability to handle multiple 

tasks with interchangeable attachments makes it a valuable investment. 

 

A skid steer offers the following operational justifications  

Versatility & Multi-Functionality, Interchangeable Attachments, All-Terrain Capability: 

Designed to operate on various terrains, including mud, gravel, and snow, Compact Size & 

Maneuverability, Cost Efficiency & Return on Investment, Reduces the Need for Multiple 

Machines, Lower Maintenance Costs, Fuel Efficiency, Increased Productivity & Labor Savings 

Faster Job Completion, Safety & Accessibility 

Improved Stability: Designed for safe operation on uneven surfaces. 

 

Conclusion 

A skid steer is a cost-effective, versatile, and highly efficient piece of equipment that enhances 

productivity and reduces operational costs. Its ability to perform multiple tasks with minimal 

labor makes it an essential asset for many industries. 

 

BUDGET IMPACT $55,000 

 

1 Year HVAC Maintenance Agreement  

An HVAC maintenance agreement is a service contract between the city and a HVAC service 

provider that ensures regular maintenance of heating, ventilation, and air conditioning systems. 

The value of such an agreement lies in its benefits, which include: 

Cost Savings 

• Prevents Expensive Repairs: Regular maintenance helps identify and address small issues 

before they turn into costly repairs. 

• Increases Energy Efficiency: A well-maintained system runs more efficiently, reducing 

energy bills. 

• Discounted Service Rates: Many agreements offer discounts on repairs and parts, saving 

money over time. 

Extended Equipment Lifespan 

• Routine servicing reduces wear and tear, prolonging the life of HVAC units and delaying 

costly replacements. 

Improved System Performance 

• Proper maintenance ensures optimal heating and cooling performance, maintaining 

comfort levels throughout the year. 

• Reduces system downtime and unexpected failures. 

 Priority Service & Convenience 

• Many agreements include priority scheduling, and ensuring faster service when issues 

arise. 

• Eliminates the hassle of remembering maintenance schedules, as service providers handle 

scheduling. 

Compliance & Warranty Protection 

• Some HVAC manufacturers require routine maintenance to keep warranties valid. 



 

16 
 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT: APRIL 2025 

• Ensures compliance with safety and environmental regulations. 

Better Air Quality & Safety 

• Clean filters and ducts help improve indoor air quality, reducing allergens and pollutants. 

• Regular inspections detect potential safety hazards, such as gas leaks or carbon monoxide 

issues. 

Conclusion 

An HVAC maintenance agreement provides long-term cost savings, system reliability, and peace 

of mind. For businesses and homeowners alike, it ensures HVAC systems operate efficiently and 

safely year-round. 

 

BUDGET IMPACT $1,000 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

17 
 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT: APRIL 2025 

Community Investment Projects (CIP) (composed by Bernard Kendrick) 

2025 CAPITAL WORK PLAN BUDGET MODIFICATIONS 

 

 

PINE LAKE DAM DESIGN 

PINE LAKE DESIGN 

PINE LAKE WETLANDS DESIGN 

 
Comprehensive project to modify the existing Army Corp of Engineers Nationwide 3 permit.  

This project will integrate all aspects of the system to fully address the functionality from 

headwaters to discharge. 

BUDGET IMPACT $45,000 

 

TREE CANOPY MANAGEMENT 

 
A Tree Canopy Management Program is a structured approach to maintaining and enhancing 

urban and natural forest canopies. It ensures the long-term health, sustainability, and benefits of 

trees in a given area. The key elements of such a program include: 

 

Canopy Assessment & Inventory 

Tree inventory to document species, health, and location. 

Prioritizing areas for canopy expansion, maintenance, and preservation. 

Tree Maintenance & Health Care 

Enforcing tree protection ordinances and regulations. 

Community Engagement & Education 

BUDGET IMPACT $25,000 



 

18 
 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT: APRIL 2025 

AMERICAN WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA) CONCERNS 

 
An Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Program ensures compliance with the ADA and 

promotes accessibility, inclusion, and equal opportunities for individuals with disabilities. The 

key elements of an effective ADA program as it pertains to Pine Lake include: 

• Establishing a clear organizational commitment to ADA compliance. 

• Defining accessibility policies and procedures. 

• Conducting a thorough assessment of facilities and impacted resources. 

• Identifying barriers to access in physical locations 

• Documenting findings and creating a corrective action plan. 

• Developing a transition plan to address identified accessibility issues. 

• Setting priorities, timelines, and funding strategies for improvements. 

• Ensuring ongoing updates as accessibility needs evolve. 

Ongoing Monitoring & Program Updates 

• Regularly reviewing and updating ADA policies and procedures. 

• Keeping up with legal updates and best practices in accessibility. 

• Engaging with people with disabilities for feedback and continuous improvement. 

BUDGET IMPACTS $25,000 

 

STREET PAVING AND IMPROVEMENTS 

 
Resurfacing and repairing existing roadways within the city limits of Pine Lake 

BUDGET IMPACTS $317,760 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

19 
 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT: APRIL 2025 

TRIBUTARY 16 CHANNEL IMPROVEMENTS 

 
Provide for a preliminary investigation by procuring an Alta Survey.  An Alta Survey is a 

comprehensive land survey that provides detailed information about a property beyond what a 

typical boundary survey would show. The survey includes information on property boundaries, 

improvements, easements, encroachments, and other features that could impact the property’s 

use or value. It also includes information on zoning regulations, flood zones, and topographic 

features of the land. All of this information is compiled into a report that can be used by buyers 

and lenders to make informed decisions about the property 

BUDGET IMPACT $25,000 

 

 

 

STREET SWEEPING PROJECT 

 
Project will provide for an intensive removal of compacted sediments that reside within the 

curb areas of all citywide streets.  The compacted sediments will be removed so as not to 

further impact deposition of the storm sewer system and adjacent drainage ways. 

BUDGET IMPACT $25,000 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

20 
 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT: APRIL 2025 

MS4 REPORTING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT  

 
Project will provide continued support of the Municipal Separate Storm Sewer Permit reporting 

and additional inspections of land disturbance activities within the city limits 

BUDGET IMPACT $30,000 

 

 

 

TENNIS COURT REHABILITIATION PROJECT  

 
This project supports the rehabilitation and upgrade of the existing tennis facility into a 

combination tennis/pickleball court. 

BUDGET IMPACT $30,000 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

21 
 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT: APRIL 2025 

MONUMENT SIGNAGE 

 

 
This project upgrades the locational signage used for wayfinding and branding  

BUDGET IMPACT $30,000 

 

POLE BANNERS 

 
Pole banners are vertical banners typically attached to poles along streets, parks, or other public 

areas. They are designed to be eye-catching and are often used for various purposes. Here are the 

primary uses for pole banners: Event Promotion, Branding and Business Advertising, Seasonal 

or Holiday Decorations, Wayfinding and Directional Signage, Public Awareness & Advocacy 

Campaigns, Community or Neighborhood Identity, Sponsorship & Partner Advertising, Street 

and City Beautification 

Cities use pole banners to enhance public spaces and make streets look more welcoming, often in 

downtown areas or tourist destinations.  They can showcase local art, culture, or architecture, 

contributing to a visually appealing environment. 

BUDGET IMPACT $5,000 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

22 
 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT: APRIL 2025 

GENERATORS 

 
This project will construct emergency generators at the Clubhouse and Courthouse for 

emergency declarations. 

BUDGET IMPACT $50,000 

 

ROOF REPLACEMENTS AND REPAIRS 

 
This project will replace roofs, gutters, and insulation of all city owned buildings. 

BUDGET IMPACTS $50,000 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

23 
 

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT: APRIL 2025 

BUILDING RENOVATIONS-OLD CITY HALL 

 
This project will renovate and upgrade the existing building to accommodate public works and 

the municipal court services operations.  This project will also provide additional climate-

controlled storage for records retention. 

BUDGET IMPACT $90,000 

 
 

Very truly yours, 

Stanley D Hawthorne 
City Manager 
stanleyhawthorne@pinelakega.net 
404.999.4901 

 
 



TO: 

FROM: 

DATE: 

TITLE: 

PINE 111!!11 � 
LAKE l?!lmf � 
�1Za..� � 

COUNCIL AGENDA MEMORANDUM (CAM) 

Honorable Mayor and Council Members 

Stanley D Hawthorne, City Manag�" 4

April 29, 2025 

Community Service Agreement 

RECOMMENDATION

> -·· 

Approval of resolution for the City of Pine Lake to partner with the Georgia Department of Community 
Supervision for individuals to fulfill court mandated community service. 

BACKGROUND

The City of Pine Lake's Police and Public Works Departments are proud to once again offer meaningful 
opportunities for individuals to fulfill court mandated community service partnering with the Georgia 
Department of Community Supervision. The program benefits not only the respective governmental 
agencies and local community, but also the individuals who volunteer their time. 

Community service provides volunteers with the unique chance to contribute to local development while 
gaining valuable learning experience and a sense of purpose through social duty. It also fosters civic 
engagement and can even offer career building opportunities. The program showcases firsthand how 
volunteering can create positive impacts both for individuals and for the community at large. 

The City eagerly anticipates collaborating with volunteers to tackle various pending projects across the 
city or for personal growth and community improvement such as park cleanups and beautification -
volunteers can help maintain and enhance public parks, including planting flowers, cleaning up litter, or 
building community gardens. Another opportunity is public space maintenance, in which volunteers 
assist in maintaining sidewalks, roadways, and street signage, helping to ensure a safe and welcoming 
environment. 

RESOURCE IMPACT

There are no cost impacts outside of budgeted resources for operations and projects. 

ATTACHMENTS 
Resolution 
Department of Community Supervision Community Service Agency Agreement 
Community Service Announcement 

Stanley D Hawthorne 
City Manager 

stanleyhawthome@pinela�a.net 
425 Allgood Road Stone Mountain GA 30083 

PO Box 1325 • Pine La� GA 3oon • 404-999-4932 

VJI.W,/.pinela�.net 



Resolution R-2025-20 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE EXECUTION OF AN AGREEMENT WITH THE 
GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY SUPERVISION DESIGNATING PINE 
LAKE AS A COMMUNITY SERVICE PARTNER, AUTHORIZING THE CHIEF OF 

POLICE TO SIGN THE AGREEMENT AS THE RESPONSIBLE CITY OFFICIAL FOR 
SUPERVISION OF THE COMMUNITY SERVICE WORKERS,  AUTHORIZING THE 

CORRECTION OF SCRIVENER’S ERRORS, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 
 

WHEREAS, The City has been designated a Community Service Partner by the Georgia 
Department of Community Supervision (“the Department”); and  

 
WHEREAS, The Department provides an opportunity for persons to contribute to local 

development while gaining valuable learning experiences and a sense of purpose 
through social duty; and 

 
WHEREAS, The Mayor and Council find that this program will contribute to the health, safety, 

and welfare of the City by providing labor for projects in the City for which the 
City has struggled to find resources; and 

 
WHEREAS, The Chief of Police brought this program to the Council’s attention at its work 

session on April 8, 2025,; and 
 
WHEREAS, there is no cost to the City for participating in this program but there is a benefit to 

the City by freeing allocated resources for other purposes once these tasks are 
performed by volunteers;  

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the governing authority of the City of Pine 

Lake, Georgia, that the City’s participation in this Program is approved; 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Chief of Police is expressly authorized to sign the 

agreement for the City and that any previous execution of the Agreement is ratified by this 
Resolution.. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Acting City Clerk, in consultation with the City 

Attorney is authorized to correct any scrivener’s errors detected after the Resolution is approved 
by the Council. 
 

ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 25th day of March, 
2025. 
 
             
      BRANDY HALL 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
             
NED DAGENHARD    CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 



Resolution R-2025-20 

Assistant City Clerk    City Attorney 







Announcement: 
The city of Pine Lake Police and Public Works Department are proud to once again offer 
meaningful opportunities for individuals to fulfill court mandated community service 
partnering with the Georgia Department of Community Supervision. We aim to create a 
program that benefits not only the agency, but also the individuals who volunteer their 
time.  

Community service provides volunteers with the unique chance to contribute to local 
development while gaining valuable learning experience and a sense of purpose through 
social duty. It also fosters civic engagement and can even offer career building 
opportunities. We have been firsthand. We have seen firsthand how volunteering can 
create positive impacts both for individuals and for the community at large.   

We eagerly anticipate collaborating with our volunteers to tackle various pending projects 
across the city or for personal growth and community improvement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  





Resolution R-2025-28 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A CONTRACT WITH 
AECOM FOR ON-CALL CITYWIDE ENGINEERING SERVICES 

 
WHEREAS, The City issued a Request for Proposals for this project and seeking sealed bids 

from interested contractors; and  
 
WHEREAS, The City conducted interviews with all responding firms; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Review Panel determined that all responding firms had a local presence and 

would meet the City’s needs; and 
 
WHEREAS, After further discussion, the Panel determined AECOM was the best qualified and 

most responsive to the City’s needs; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Review Panel unanimously recommended AECOM for on-call Citywide 

Engineering Services to the City Council;  
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the governing authority of the City of Pine 
Lake, Georgia, that the Mayor is authorized to execute a contract with AECOM for on-call 
Citywide Engineering Services with the Costs of services as shown in Exhibit A to this Resolution 
and with the terms and conditions as approved by the City attorney and the Contractor. 
 

ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 29th day of April, 
2025. 

 
 
 
             
      BRANDY HALL 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
             
NED DAGENHARD    CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
Acting City Clerk    City Attorney 
 
 
 











Resolution R-2025-21 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ACCEPTANCE OF QUOTES FROM 
QUALIFIED VENDORS AND THE EXECUTION OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS FOR 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS TO THE CITY’S TENNIS FACILITIES 
 

WHEREAS, The City obtained quotes for resurfacing and modification to the Tennis Courts, 
which have been in a state of disrepair for some time, to create a hybrid 
Tennis/Pickleball Court; and  

 
WHEREAS, The City also obtained quotes for replacing the existing fencing surrounding the 

facility; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Lowest Competitive Quote for resurfacing came from Advanced Athletic 

Surfaces, LLC in the amount of $16,380; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Lowest Competitive Quote for fencing replacement and repair came from 

Ergeron Fencing in the amount of $13,437; and 
 
WHEREAS, The total project cost is not to exceed $29,817.00; and 
 
WHEREAS, Funding for this work will be allocated by a separate action of the Governing 

Authority in an appropriate budget amendment; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Contractors are ready willing and able to begin work;  
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the governing authority of the City of Pine 
Lake, Georgia, that the projects and costs detailed above are approved and that the Mayor is 
authorized to execute any and all necessary documents with Advanced Athletic Surfaces, LLC and 
Ergeron Fencing in a total project amount of $29,817. 

 
ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 29th day of April, 

2025. 
 
             
      BRANDY HALL 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
             
NED DAGENHARD    CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
Acting City Clerk    City Attorney 
 
 
 



            CITY OF PINE LAKE
TENNIS COURT COST MATRIX

 

TENNIS COURT 
RESTORATION

 TENNIS COURT 
ONLY 

PICKLE BALL 
ONLY

TENNIS/PICKLEBA
LL HYBRID FENCE REPAIR

TOTAL COSTS

     
 COURT RENEW 17,072.00$                             NO BID NO BID NO BID $17,072.00
     

MATCH POINT 
TENNIS 13,000.00$                             $15,500.00 $13,750.00 NO BID

 

 

ADVANCED ATHLETIC 
SURFACES, LLC

NO BID NO BID $16,380.00 $9,870.00
$26,250.00

      
HOMES BEST FRIEND NO BID NO BID NO BID $15,121.00 $15,121.00

ERGERON $13,437.00 $13,437.00

 





Resolution R-2025-22 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ACCEPTANCE OF QUOTES FROM 
QUALIFIED VENDORS AND THE EXECUTION OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS FOR 

PURCHASE OF AND INSTALLATION OF UPGRADES TO THE CITY’S 
ELECTRICAL INFRASTRUCTURE AND PURCHASE OF NEW HOLIDAY LIGHTING 

 
WHEREAS, The Mayor and Council received a report from the Public Works Director on the 

state of the Holiday Lights utilized by the City during the Winter Holidays Season; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, The Public Works Director reported that the current inventory of lights were beyond 

their useful life and that the electrical infrastructure (to include receptacles on utility 
poles, photocell upgrades, and ground electrical system) surrounding the 
Clubhouse was no longer in compliance with applicable codes and required 
replacement; and 

 
WHEREAS, The Mayor and City Council determine from the information provided to them by 

the City manager that there is a sole source as defined by State law at O.C.G.A. § 
36-91-2 for the lighting materials, which is Lori’s Lighted D’Lites; and 

 
WHEREAS, The Project costs break down as follows: 

 
Holiday Lighting Purchase    $25,000 
Light/Utility Pole Repars   $  7,000 
Electrical ground lighting replacement $10,500; and 

 
WHEREAS, Funding for this work will be allocated by a separate action of the Governing 

Authority in an appropriate budget amendment; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Contractors are ready willing and able to begin work and time is of the essence;  
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the governing authority of the City of Pine 
Lake, Georgia, that the projects and costs detailed above are approved and that the Mayor is 
authorized to execute any and all necessary documents with Lori’s Lighted D’Lites, Brannon Signs 
and Lights, and Comfort Air of Atlanta to complete this acquisition and installation in a total 
amount not to exceed $42,500. 

 
ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 29th day of April, 

2025. 
 
             
      BRANDY HALL 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 



Resolution R-2025-22 

             
NED DAGENHARD    CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
Acting City Clerk    City Attorney 
 
 
 



Lori’s Lighted D’Lites 
If you can Dream it, Gene can build it!  QUOTE 
25202 US Highway 301 N, Lawtey, FL 32058  
904-782-3701 Toll Free 1-877-647-4906 
yardarts@lorislighteddlites.com  

INVOICE # CPL001 
Date: 04/16/2025 

To: 
Bernard Kendrick  
Publix Works Director  
City of Pine Lake  
San Francisco, CA 54321404-999-4901   
   

Expiration Date: 04/30/2025 

 

Salesperson  Job  Payment terms  Due date  
Lori Gowens  City Holiday Lights 50% Deposit at time placed TBD  

 

Qty  Description  Unit price  Line total  

2 Moon and Star Arch $ 1475 $ 2950 

10 5’ Tall Pole Mount Outline Deer $ 200 $ 2000 

5 6’ Tall Pole Mount Candy Cane with Bow $ 350 $ 1750 

2 Happy New Year (Clearance) Yard Mount Signs $ 262.50 $ 525 

2 Seasons Greetings Yard Mount Signs $ 320 $ 640 

2 X-Large 4 Car Christmas Train $ 3205                    $ 6410 

5 6’ Tall Pole Mount Snowman with Hat $ 240 $ 1200 

5 6’ Tall Pole Mount Basic Candy Cane $ 150 $ 750 

2 Santa in Sleigh with 4 Leaping Deer $ 940 $ 1880 

5 5’ Tall Pole Mount Frog with Santa Hat $ 320 $ 1600 

5 5’ Tall Pole Mount Puppy  $ 400 $ 2000 

1 Custom Ground Mount 10’ Tall Pine Lake Georgia Sign $ 3675                   $ 3675 

 Subtotal  $ 25,380.  

POLE MOUNTS WILL HAVE REQUIRED MOUNT TO ATTACH TO EXISTING MOUNT ON  
POLES.  AN EXAMPLE WILL BE PROVIDED WITH PROPER MEASUREMENTS. 

Discount  ($ 2,380)  

ALL FRAMES WILL BE LIT WITH LED M5 MINI LIGHTS. 
DELIVERY WILL BE SCHEDULED ONCE CUSTOM PIECES COMPLETED 

Total   $ 23,000.  

 

Quotation prepared by:  Lori Gowens 
 
This is a quotation on the goods named, subject to the conditions noted below: Based on information provided, all sales are 
final, deposit (non-refundable) of 50% required once order placed. 
 
To accept this quotation, sign here and return: ____________________________________________________ 

Thank you for your business!  





 
 

QUALITY AND SERVICE 

State Licensed - Insured 
____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

HEATING & AIR CONDITIONING     -    ELECTRICAL   -   LIGHT PLUMBING 

SALE   -   SERVICE   -    INSTALLATION 

 

 

4618 Rockbridge Rd Stn Mnt, GA 30083 

 * TEL. (404) 296-6190 (404) 296-6118    atlc@bellsouth.net 

 

    PROPOSAL 
Proposal No: 01 

Sheet No: 01 

State License No. CN211080/ER101870/MP210242 

Date: 04/24/2025

********************************* 

Name:      City of Pine Lake  

Address:  Pine Lake Beach  

City:         Pine Lake 

Zip:          30072 

Work to be performed at 

Street: Variations Dr 1939-1949 

e Way 2051-2060 

 2070-2112 

City: 

Phone:    (470) 503-1652 

Email:      pwsupervisor@pinelakega.net 
 

 

*********************************************************

*Estimated costs for the update and replacement of existing ground fault electrical systems 

located in and around the Beach house and inner berm area.  

$Parts and labor: $10,500.00 

 

Note: In the event that additional repairs beyond the scope of this proposal are identified 

during the course of the project, these repairs will be addressed separately and may incur 

additional costs. A revised estimate for these repairs will be provided for your approval 

before any further work is undertaken.  

 
 

All parts as recorded are warranted as per the manufacturer’s specifications. The labor warranty is 

for 12 months. All materials are warranted to be as specified and above work to be performed in accordance 

with the drawings (if applicable) and specifications for the above work and completed in substantial 

workmanlike manner for the sum of (see above) with payments to be made as follows, 50% down and 50% 

upon completion. 

 

 

                                                                                                                                     Respectfully submitted: 

Comfort Air of Atlanta Inc. 
Note: We may withdraw this  

proposal if not accepted  

within 7 days of above date. 

 

I have the authority to order the above work and do so order as outlined above. It is agreed that the Contractor 

will retain title to any equipment or material furnished until final and complete payment is made and if 

settlement is not made as agreed, the Contractor shall have the right to remove same and the Contractor will 

be held harmless for any damages resulting from the removal thereof. I, further agree to pay the Contractor 

15% of any sum due as attorney’s fees if collected through an attorney. 

 

Date: ____________________ Signature: _____________________



 
 

QUALITY AND SERVICE 

State Licensed - Insured 
____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

HEATING & AIR CONDITIONING     -    ELECTRICAL   -   LIGHT PLUMBING 

SALE   -   SERVICE   -    INSTALLATION 

 

 

4618 Rockbridge Rd Stn Mnt, GA 30083 

 * TEL. (404) 296-6190 (404) 296-6118    atlc@bellsouth.net 

 

 







Resolution R-2025-23 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ALLOCATION OF FUNDS FROM THE CITY’S 
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECT DESIGNATED FUND TO COMPLETE 

UPGRADES AND IMPROVEMENTS TO CITY FACILITIES TO COMPLY WITH 
FEDERAL STATUTES 

 
WHEREAS, The City has a number of facilities that impede the ability of persons with 

disabilities to access the facility; and  
 
WHEREAS, Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act requires all public facilities be 

accessible, to the extent reasonably possible, to all citizens regardless of age, 
infirmity, or disability; and 

 
WHEREAS, The Public Works Department has determined that the projects necessary at this 

time can reasonably and cost-effectively be performed in-house; and 
 
WHEREAS, Funding for this work will be allocated by a separate action of the Governing 

Authority in an appropriate budget amendment;  
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the governing authority of the City of Pine 
Lake, Georgia, that the City Manager is directed to allocate not more than $55,000 for use by the 
Department of Public Works to be utilized to address barriers to access throughout the City as 
shown on the Remediation Map provided to Council in support of this Resolution, and attached 
hereto as Exhibit A. 
 

ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 29th day of April, 
2025. 
 
             
      BRANDY HALL 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
             
NED DAGENHARD    CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
Acting City Clerk    City Attorney 
 
 
 



 



 





Resolution R-2025-24 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ACCEPTANCE OF QUOTES FROM 
QUALIFIED VENDORS AND THE EXECUTION OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS FOR 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS TO CITY FACILITIES 
 

WHEREAS, The City obtained quotes for roofing projects at City owned facilities from qualified 
contractors; and  

 
WHEREAS, The City also obtained a quote for one insulation project at a city facility that came 

in below the $10,000 threshold to obtain competitive pricing; and 
 
WHEREAS, The lowest competitive quote for the roofing projects came from Home’s Best 

Friend which had previously performed successfully on similar work for the City; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, Funding for this work will be allocated by a separate action of the Governing 

Authority in an appropriate budget amendment; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Contractors are ready willing and able to begin work;  
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the governing authority of the City of Pine 
Lake, Georgia, that the proposed contract with Home’s Best Friend is approved and the the Mayor 
is authorized to execute any and all necessary documents with Homes Best Friend, Inc., for roofing 
work at 470 Clubhouse Circle, 463Clubhouse Circle, 462 Clubhouse Circle, and 425 Allgood Road 
in a total amount not to exceed $44,720. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the proposed contract with Robinsons Insulation 

Company, LLC, is approved and the Mayor is further authorized to execute any and all necessary 
documents with Robinsons Insulation Company, LLC, in an amount not to exceed $5,940.00 for 
insulation services at City facilities. 

 
ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 29th day of April, 

2025. 
 
             
      BRANDY HALL 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
             
NED DAGENHARD    CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
Acting City Clerk    City Attorney 
 
 
 



VENDOR TOTAL
470 

CLUBHOUSE 
CIRCLE

462 
CLUBHOUSE 

DRIVE

425 ALLGOOD 
ROAD

463 
CLUBHOUSE 

DRIVE

CLUBHOUSE OLD CITY HALL CITY HALL PUBLIC WORKS

 
TRUE ROOFING $46,550.00 $15,250.00 $7,800.00 $13,750.00 $9,750.00

HOMES BEST FRIEND $44,720.00 $13,475.00 $7,345.00 $14,445.00 $9,455.00
FRASER ROOFING $52,300.00 $14,900.00 $6,950.00 $19,450.00 $11,000.00

 
In House Estimate $176,727.00 $31,412.00 $23,619.00 $33,400.00 $32,211.00

REOMMENDED







Resolution R-2025-25 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ACCEPTANCE OF A CONTRACT WITH 
AVALON TREE SERVICES TO REMOVE A STORM DAMAGED TREE FROM THE 

SNAPFINGER CREEK FLOODWAY 
 

WHEREAS, During Hurricane Helene’s progress through Georgia in October 2024, a tree was 
toppled within the Snapfinger Creek Floodway; and  

 
WHEREAS, The City sought quotes for services from 3 vendors and only received 2 responsive 

quotes; and 
 
WHEREAS, The low quote for the services to remove the dead tree is from Avalon Tree Services 

in the amount of $4,000; and 
 
WHEREAS, The tree constitutes a threat to the health, safety, and welfare of the Citizens of Pine 

Lake and needs to be removed; and  
 
WHEREAS, Funding for this work will be allocated by a separate action of the Governing 

Authority in an appropriate budget amendment; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Contractor is ready willing and able to begin work and time is of the essence;  
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the governing authority of the City of Pine 
Lake, Georgia, that the quote from Avalon Tree Services is accepted and the Mayor is authorized 
to execute any and all documents necessary to have this project completed.. 

 
ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 29th day of April, 

2025. 
 
             
      BRANDY HALL 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
             
NED DAGENHARD    CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
Acting City Clerk    City Attorney 
 



            CITY OF PINE LAKE
Snapfinger Creek Tree Removal  COST MATRIX

Snapfinger Creek Tree 
Removal     TOTAL COSTS

     
       

Avalon Tree Services  $                         4,000.00    $4,000.00
     

   
AKA Tree Service LLC  $                         4,600.00     $4,600.00

       

 
      

 
      

 

 

 





Resolution R-2025-26 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE REMEDIATION AND RENOVATION OF THE 
PUBLIC BUILDING LOCATED AT 462 CLUBHOUSE DRIVE, APPROVAL OF 

VENDORS FOR THE WORK NECESSARY TO RENOVATE AND RENDER THE 
BUILDING USABLE, TO AUTHORIZE THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE ANY AND ALL 

NECESSARY DOCUMENTS, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 
 

WHEREAS, The City owns the land and building located at 462 Clubhouse Drive, in the City of 
Pine Lake; and  

 
WHEREAS, The Charter of the City of Pine Lake authorizes the ownership and maintenance of 

real and personal property for the public’s use at sections 1.12(18) and (19); and 
 
WHEREAS, The City Council has been provided with a report on, and asked questions about 

the current state of the building and the need for immediate action to make the 
structure safe for use by citizens and the general public; and 

 
WHEREAS, In addition to its current use for storage, approximately 775 feet of the building will 

be repurposed as offices for Court Services and as the office and control space for 
the Department of Public Works; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Vendors selected for the work have previously been employed by the City for 

the transformation of 459 Pine Drive property owned by the City and have by that 
work demonstrated the quality of their work and the responsiveness of their role as 
a vendor for the City of Pine Lake.  

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the governing authority of the City of Pine 

Lake, Georgia, that the following vendors are approved at the specific amounts shown for their 
portion of the project: 

 
 Contractor    Task     Cost   
 
 BELFOR Property Restoration Building Remediation  $ 9,091.00 
 Comfort Air of Atlanta  Plumbing and HVAC  $14,350.00 
 Homes Best Friend, LLC  Roof replacement  $ 7,345.00* 
 L. Brown Enterprises, LLC  Interior/Exterior Updates  $40,000.00 
 Jared Insulation Company, LLC Crawlspace encapsulation  $27,430.00 
 
and, 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Manager, in consultation with the City 
Attorney, is directed to cause appropriate contracts to be drawn and prepared for execution by the 
vendors above and the City to have the work anticipated by this Resolution promptly and 
professionally performed, 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the total project cost approved by the Governing 

Authority is not to exceed $98,225.00 notwithstanding approvals of other Resolutions for work 
 

* Approved by Resolution Approving contracts for Qualified Vendors for Capital Projects, Resolution number 2024-
___. 



Resolution R-2025-26 

associated with this address or the particular allocated funds per vendor identified and listed above, 
and  

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Mayor is expressly authorized to execute any and 

all necessary documents to give effect and purpose to this Resolution without further action by the 
City Council,  

 
ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 29th day of April, 

2025. 
 
             
      BRANDY HALL 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
             
NED DAGENHARD    CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
Acting City Clerk    City Attorney 







Resolution R-2025-27 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ACCEPTANCE OF QUOTES FROM 
QUALIFIED VENDORS AND THE EXECUTION OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS FOR 

PURCHASE OF PUBLIC WORKS SERVICE VEHICLES 
 

WHEREAS, The Mayor and Council received a report from the Public Works Director on the 
state of the vehicles available for use by the Public Works Department to carry out 
its tasks; and  

 
WHEREAS, The Public Works Director reported the current vehicles required substantial 

maintenance and impede operational efficiency; and 
 
WHEREAS, The City received quotes through the State contract for vehicle purchase that passes 

the purchasing power of the State of Georgia down to local governments in an effort 
to control and reduce costs for vehicle purchases; and 

 
WHEREAS, The low quote for the purchase of a 2025 Ford Maverick (a compact pickup truck) 

is $30,115 from Wade Ford. 
 
WHEREAS, The sole quote for the purchase of a pre-owned Club Car Carryall utility vehicle is 

$8,890 from Specialty Car Company. 
 
WHEREAS, Funding for this work will be allocated by a separate action of the Governing 

Authority in an appropriate budget amendment; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Contractors are ready willing and able to begin work and time is of the essence;  
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the governing authority of the City of Pine 
Lake, Georgia, that the purchases and costs described above are approved and authorized and the 
Mayor is expressly authorized to execute any and all documents necessary to give effect to these 
purchases by the City. 

 
ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 29th day of April, 

2025. 
 
             
      BRANDY HALL 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
             
NED DAGENHARD    CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
Acting City Clerk    City Attorney 
 









QUOTATION
SPECIALTY CAR COMPANY Reference No: D041625-9
 1545 Mountain Ind Blvd Stone Mountain GA 30083 * 770-446-3444 * Fax 770-662-8677

Bill To: GA - Pine Lake Office                  Date of Quote: 4/16/2025
462 Clubhouse Drive   Sales Person: Daniel Hedges
Pine Lake GA 30072 Cell: 770-315-5034

Ship To: GA - Pine Lake Office Email: pwsupervisor@pinelakega.net
462 Clubhouse Drive Phone: 470-503-1652

Pine Lake GA 30072 Contact Bernard Kendrick

WE ARE PLEASED TO SUBMIT THE FOLLOWING QUOTATION:
UNIT EXTENSION

QUANTITY PRICE PRICE
1 2021 Club Car Carryall 500 Gasoline - Used 8,795.00$            8,795.00$          

  14 EFI Overhead Cam Engine - Gasoline
  Cargo Box
  Classic Blue Color Front Body
  Grey Seats
  Standard Wheels & Tires
  12 Volt Power Point
  Four Wheel Braking
  Halogen Headlights
  Canopy Top Standard
  Fold Down Windshield
  Wheel Covers
  Aluminum Frame

Sales Total 8,795.00$          
NOTE: Ninety (90) Day Limited Warranty Delivery 95.00$               

Limited Warranty: Sub Total 8,890.00$          
  Parts And Labor Except Tires And Abuse Sale Tax Exempt
  Service Call Fee NOT Included Total 8,890.00$          

DESCRIPTION

TERMS
Collect On Delivery

F.O.B.
Atlanta, GA

Approx.Delivery Date
1 - 2 weeks

SHIPPED VIA
SCC Truck

Prices quoted are those in effect at the time of quotation and are guaranteed subject to acceptance within **/30 days.  Applicable state 
or local taxes are not included.  All credit terms must be approved by SPECIALTY CAR COMPANY prior to delivery.  Customer to 
submit required credit information for credit approval.  Delivery lead time of N/A to N/A normally required.

Accepted By:_________________________
Company:____________________________
Title:________________________________
Date:________________________________

Specialty Car Company
Daniel Hedges
Sales Manager
Thank you for your interest!







Resolution R-2025-29 

A RESOLUTION OF THE MAYOR AND  CITY COUNCIL FOR THE CITY OF PINE LAKE 
TO APPROVE THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A PAY AND CLASSIFICATOIN STUDY FOR 
THE EMPLOYEES OF THE CITY OF PINE LAKE, TO APPROVE A CONTRACT WITH 

THE CARL VINSON INSTITUTE OF GOVERNMNET FROM THE UNIVERSITY OF 
GEORGIA TO PERFORM THE STUDY, TO APPROVE THE CONTRACT AMOUNT, TO 
AUTHORIZE THE MAYOR TO SIGN AND EXECUTE ANY RELEVANT DOCUMENTS, 

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 
 

WHEREAS, the Charter of the City of Pine Lake at § 3.16 provides for the creation and 
classification of employees to perform the necessary tasks of the City under the 
direction and control of the City Manager; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Pine Lake does not currently have a pay and classification system that 

allows for systematic and regulated management, job duties and responsibilities, 
compensation, and benefits; and 

 
WHEREAS, as the City progresses in its goal of maintaining and having appropriate institutional 

controls and regulations, a pay and classification system is a necessary step in that 
evolution; 

 
WHEREAS, the City Manager has determined that in his professional opinion having a 

professionally prepared and objective pay and classification system is an urgent 
priority for the City; 

 
WHEREAS, on the Council’s agenda for the same meeting as this item appears, is a budget 

amendment that funds the cost of the Study approved by this Resolution; ; 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the governing authority of the City of Pine 
Lake, Georgia, in an open and public meeting, as follows: 

 
1. A Pay and Classification study is hereby expressly authorized; 
 
2.  The City Manager, with the assistance of the City Attorney, will caused to be prepared 

a contract with the Carl Vinson Instittue for the performance of the Pay and 
Classification Study authorized by this Resolution; 

 
3. The maximum amount of the services for this Study shall be $11,811; 
 
4. The Mayor is expressly authorized to execute any and all documents necessary to give 

effect to this Resolution. 
 
ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 29th day of April, 

2025. 
 

 
             
      BRANDY HALL 
      Mayor 



Resolution R-2025-29 

 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
             
NED DAGENHARD    CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
Acting City Clerk    City Attorney 



 
 
 
 
  
 

P R O P O S A L  F O R  S E R V I C E S  
 

City of Pine Lake 

Classification & Compensation Study 

April 21, 2025 

 

Background and Purpose: 

This proposal is responsive to the City of Pine Lake’s request to have the Carl Vinson Institute of 

Government (Institute of Government) develop a new classification and compensation plan for 

full-time and permanent part-time positions covered under the City’s personnel plan. 

 

General Understanding:  

The City of Pine Lake is located in Dekalb County.  The City employs 12 full-time employees in 

Administration, Police, Public Works, and Recreation.  The City also has 3 regular part-time 

employees.  This study will utilize published survey data rather than a custom survey. 

 

Scope of Work:  

The scope of work proposed here will derive from information from data sources provided by 

the City of Pine Lake. The Institute of Government and the City of Pine Lake will cooperate in 

guiding project evolution and direction. Institute of Government faculty and staff will take 

several steps or phases to develop a new job classification system and compensation plan for all 

positions covered under the City’s personnel plan. Elected officials, contract, and temporary 

positions will not be included in the project. 

 

The following summarizes the tasks to be undertaken: 

1. The Institute of Government will conduct videoconference work plan meetings with the 

City Manager from the City of Pine Lake. The work plan meetings will involve reviewing 



 
 
 
 
  
 

P R O P O S A L  F O R  S E R V I C E S  
 

the City’s existing classification and compensation information, developing project 

strategies, and scheduling project activities.  

2. Institute of Government faculty and staff will conduct project orientation meetings with 

employees from the City of Pine Lake. The orientation meetings will describe in detail 

the activities that will be required to successfully develop the classification and 

compensation plan for all full-time and permanent part-time positions covered under 

the City’s personnel plan.  

• Orientation Meeting #1 – Videoconference orientation meeting with supervisory 

employees. The purpose of the orientation meeting is to discuss the developed 

study work plan, study methodology, and distribute study documents.  

• Orientation Meeting #2 – Videoconference orientation meeting with non-

supervisory employees. The purpose of the orientation meeting is to discuss the 

developed study work plan, study methodology, and distribute study documents.  

3. The Institute of Government will develop a detailed position description questionnaire 

to be distributed by the City Manager after the video conference orientation sessions. It 

will be distributed to each incumbent employee in a full-time and permanent part-time 

position.  

4. The Institute of Government will determine the number of job analysis discussions and 

interviews that will need to be conducted to ensure adequate data for generating data 

for generating new position description and job classifications. A minimum of 20% of the 

City of Pine Lake’s full-time and permanent part-time employees will be interviewed for 

this phase of the project. The interviews will be conducted via telephone or video 

conferencing. The information collected from the interviews and the position 

description questionnaire will be utilized to generate a new job description and job 

classifications for each identified full-time position.  



 
 
 
 
  
 

P R O P O S A L  F O R  S E R V I C E S  
 

5. The Institute of Government will develop new job descriptions for all identified full-time 

positions in the City of Pine Lake. Job descriptions will be developed by collecting 

employee job activity data through a detailed questionnaire and job analysis discussions 

and interviews. The Institute of Government will facilitate a verification process with 

supervisory employees to confirm the accuracy and completeness of the developed 

position descriptions.  

6. Institute of Government faculty and staff will develop a new classification system for all 

identified full-time and permanent part-time positions covered under the City’s 

personnel plan. Classifications will be evaluated with a point factor comparison job 

evaluation system and/or market-based pricing techniques as a method to internally 

rank positions.  

7. Institute of Government faculty and staff will collect published wage survey data 

covering public and private organizations. It is believed that published survey data will 

be derived from the Bureau of Labor Statistics of the U.S. Department of Labor (BLS), 

International City/City Management Association (ICMA), and the state of Georgia’s 

Department of Community Affairs (DCA).  

8. Institute of Government faculty and staff will analyze and format the collected salary 

survey data for use in establishing competitive pay levels and developing a 

recommended compensation plan. The compensation plan will include pay steps or pay 

bands for each position (excluding positions held by elected officials, contract 

employees, and temporary employees). Furthermore, the Institute of Government will 

provide the associated costs for implementing the compensation plan at the employee, 

departmental, City-wide level. 

9. The Institute of Government will develop compensation administration strategies in 

partnership with the City Manager to address pay compression issues. Pay compression 

occurs when employee salaries group closely together regardless of length or quality of 



 
 
 
 
  
 

P R O P O S A L  F O R  S E R V I C E S  
 

service to the organization). It is anticipated the strategies to address pay compression 

will focus on one or a combination of all the following factors: length of service; time in 

current position; and current salary relative to the proposed salary range minimum, 

mid-point, and maximum.  

10. The Institute of Government will develop and submit a final written report outlining the 

new classification and compensation plan to the City Manager.  

11. The Institute of Government will present report findings and the final classification and 

compensation plan to the City Manager and City Council.  

12. Institute of Government faculty and staff will train the City Manager in each component 

of the study to ensure the successful implementation and maintenance of the 

recommended classification and compensation plan.  

Deliverables:  

1. A written summary analysis of the salary data gathered for the project. 

2. A written report outlining the recommended classification and compensation plan will 

be produced. 

3. A new job description for all the identified positions in the City of Pine Lake. 

4. A written report outlining compensation administration strategies to address 

organizational pay compression issues. 

5. Institute of Government faculty and staff will make a presentation to the Mayor and City 

Council outlining the final report recommendations.  

 



 
 
 
 
 
 

Project Timeline:  

The Carl Vinson Institute of Government will commence activities related to the classification 
and compensation project on Monday, June 2, 2025. Initial activities include video conference 
work plan meetings and orientation sessions with the City Manager and city employees. During 
these meetings and sessions, the Carl Vinson Institute of Government will discuss the project 
methodology and timeline.  

In partnership with the City Manager, the Institute of Government will identify full-time and 
permanent part-time employees required to complete a position description questionnaire. The 
City Manager will distribute review forms to City employees after the video conference 
orientation sessions. Each City employee will be responsible for completing a form for their 
position and have completed materials submitted to the City Manager and/or designee.  

The next phase of the study will involve job analysis discussions with the City Manager and City 
employees to review their completed questionnaires and discuss classification and 
compensation information for their supervisory area(s). 

After collecting all the job activity data, the next elements of the project will involve developing 
new job descriptions, evaluating positions, collecting and analyzing a variety of benefits and 
salary survey data, and developing a new classification and compensation plan. 

The final steps in the project will involve reviewing the preliminary results with the City 
Manager. The final report findings will be presented to the Mayor and City Council. A 
preliminary cost estimate and report will be submitted for review by September 30, 2025, and a 
final report submitted by October 31, 2025.  

The Carl Vinson Institute of Government will remain available to assist with implementation 
and training related to the project until December 31, 2025. 

**Please note that the timeline presented in this proposal is subject to timely response in each 
project phase. Client’s timely response(s) to information requests and scheduling of project 
meetings can help with project progression. The final timeline (including start date) will be 
finalized at the time of a signed agreement.  

Cost: 

A fixed fee of $11,811 would be required to fund the project. The Institute of Government is 
willing to adjust the scope of work and costs accordingly to meet the City’s needs. This proposal 
will be valid for 60 days from the date of issuance (April 21, 2025) and honored upon 
acceptance within that timeframe thereafter pursuant to execution of a contract.  



 
 
 
 
 
 

Upon receipt of invoices City of Pine Lake will pay the University of Georgia’s Carl Vinson 
Institute of Government a fixed of cost being due on February 28, 2026. The invoice will be 
directed to Stanley D. Hawthorne, City Manager, P.O. Box 1325, Pine Lake, GA 30072, 
telephone number: 404-999-4901. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
BIOGRAPHIES OF ASSIGNED STAFF 
 
Dan Lasseter – Human Resources Unit Manager 
Mr. Lasseter oversees the work of the Human Resources Unit at the Institute of Government.  His work 

includes providing 360-degree leadership assessments for high-level management positions in 

governmental and nonprofit organizations. Executive searches for high-level leadership positions in 

public sector organizations by screening and vetting potential candidates, as well as providing onsite 

consultation during the candidate interview process. He is closely involved with employment testing for 

public safety agencies, which includes job analysis, job knowledge test development and assessment 

center design and administration. Additionally, he manages the certification program for the Georgia 

Local Government Personnel Association. Dan is active in the American Society for Public Administration 

and serves on the society’s national council, representing the southeastern United States, and serves on 

the board of directors of the Southeastern Conference for Public Administration. 

Sam Trager – Project Manager 

Mr. Trager will serve as project manager for this assignment. His responsibilities include assisting 

governments with Compensation and Classification studies.  He works with cities, counties, and various 

agencies to ensure pay plans are internally equitable and externally competitive in order to aid in the 

recruitment and retention of employees. Additionally, Sam assists with a variety of Human Resources 

related projects. 

Sam has over 30 years of local government human resources experience.  Prior to joining the Institute of 

Government, Sam served as Human Resources Director for the City of Milton, Georgia with full 

responsibility for Compensation and Benefits, Recruitment and Retention, Employee Relations, Payroll 

and HRIS, and Safety and Risk Management. Also, Sam has served as the Director of Human Resources 

for Hall County, GA and Compensation and Benefits Manager for both Athens-Clarke County and 

Gainesville-Hall County, GA.  He has also worked in public sector executive search for several years.  

Martina Tryman – Research Professional  

As a Research Professional, Ms. Tryman assists with various projects within the Government Services & 

Research unit. Martina supports the research, design, and implementation of classification and 

compensation studies for state and local government agencies. Martina aids with research, 

development, implementation, and evaluation of job analysis, employee interviews, salary surveys, 

writing job descriptions, data management and analysis support. She also helps with administrative 

duties related to classification and compensation analysis. 

Prior to her current role, Martina worked within the Human Resources unit as a Program Coordinator. 

Before joining the Carl Vinson Institute of Government, Martina worked with the UGA Office of Alumni 

Relations where she provided support to the executive director and the UGA Alumni Association Board 

of Directors. Before joining the Office of Alumni Relations, Martina worked in the private sector at a 

telemarketing company as a quality analyst and account administrator. In addition, she’s worked at the 



 
 
 
 
 
 
John C. Stennis Institute of Government at Mississippi State University on various research projects 

including salary and phone surveys. 

CAPABILITIES OF THE VINSON INSTITUTE: 

The mission of the Institute of Government is to improve governance and the lives of people in Georgia. 

In carrying out this mission, the Institute can call on the wide-ranging knowledge base of the University of 

Georgia as well as on over 90 years of direct service experience in providing technical assistance, training, 

research, and policy analysis to local and state governments in Georgia. The Institute of Government is 

among the most highly-rated university-based organizations designed specifically to span the gap 

between best practices research and the existing practice of government. The Institute of Government 

has developed expertise in numerous areas of public policy, public management, training, and human 

services and resource development. Most importantly for the purposes of this proposal, the Institute of 

Government’s Government Services and Research (GSR) Division has tremendous experience with 

assisting local governments with human resource management technical assistance projects. 

An Institute of Government representative will oversee the project. The Institute of Government has a 

considerable amount of expertise working with local governments and public sector organizations in the 

areas of position classification and compensation, job descriptions, salary and employee benefits surveys, 

executive searches, and general human resource management. 

The Institute of Government focuses on providing customized research projects based upon the unique 

and specific needs of each local government.  We have several experts in this arena that can be called 

upon to provide additional technical support.  We stand ready to meet your applied research and training 

needs! For additional information please contact: 

Sam Trager 

sam.trager@uga.edu 

706.542.5437 

770.283.0732 

 

Or 

 

Martina Tryman 

matryman@uga.edu 

 

 

mailto:sam.trager@uga.edu
mailto:matryman@uga.edu

	4 29 2025 Agenda



